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ASX Listing Rule 4.3A

Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited
ABN 15 088 417 403

Full Year Financial Report

For the financial year ended 31 January 2016
compared to the prior year ended 31 January 2015

Results for Announcement to the Market

Provided below are the Results for Announcement to the Market in accordance with Australian Securities Exchange (‘ASX)
Listing Rule 4.2A and Appendix 4E for the Consolidated Entity comprising Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited and ifs controlled
entities for the year ended 31 January 2016 {the ‘financial year') compared with the year ended 31 January 2015
{‘comparative year').

Highlights

®  Revenue up 10.2% to $3.5 billion
Reported EBIT of $80.4m" and reported NPAT of $50.5m reflect the impact of the one off accounting
adjustment arising from the outperformance of the CHS/DDS acquisition

*  Underlying EBIT2 up 13.7% to reach $89.1m with Underlying NPAT2 up 11.6% to $59.2m
Shareholders rewarded with the final dividend increased to 3.0 cents per share (fully franked)

Consolidated reported results

31 January 31 January | Movement | Movement
2016 2015 ($°000) | percentage
($'000) {$'000)
Revenue from continuing operations 3,461,104 3,142,126 318,978 10.2%
Profit after tax attributable to equity holders of 50,502 52,773 {2,271 (4.3%)
Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited
Net tangible assets per share $0.42 $0.43 ($0.01) {2.3%)

*For an explanation of the movement refer to the Financial Performance section of the Directors’ Report.
Dividends
Since the end of the financial year, the Board of Directors have resolved to pay a final dividend of 3.0 cents per share fully
franked, to be paid on 21 April 2016. The ex-dividend date is 6 April 2016. The record date is 7 April 2016. The financial
impact of these dividends amounting to $32.4 million has not been recognised in the Finangial Statements for the year ended
31 January 2016 and will be recognised in subsequent Financial Statements.

The details in relation to dividends are set out below:

Record date Date of payment | Cents per share Franked cents per | Total dividends $m
share at 30% tax rate

7 April 2016 21 April 2016 3.0 3.0 $324

25 September 2015 7 Qctober 2015 2.0 2.0 32186

2 April 2015 16 April 2015 3.0+ 3.0 $328

“a final dividend of 2.0 cents per share and a special dividend of 1.0 cent per share

‘includes share of profit/{loss) of equity accounted investee, before tax of $0.3m




Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited

ABN 15 088 417 403
“Reconciliation of Reported vs Underlying Eamings

$000 31 January | 31 January
2016 2015
Reported EBIT 80,071 78,055
Add : Share of profit/(loss} of equity accounted investees 300 (6)
Acquisition expenses - 307

Loss on recognition of contingent consideration from prior year acquisitions 7,784
Amortisation of other intangibles acquired in acquisition 940 :
Underlying EBIT 89,095 78,356
Reported NPAT3 50,502 52,773
Add : Acquisition expenses - 307

Loss on recognition of contingent consideration from prior year acquisitions 7,784
Amortisation of other intangibles acquired in acquisition 940 -
Underlying NPAT 59,226 53,080

3 Profit attributable to the owners of the company

Shareholder's Calendar

Results announced 23 March 2016
Ex-dividend date & April 2016
Record Date 7 April 2016
Dividend payment date 21 April 2016
Annual General Meeting Melbourne 11.00 am 4 May 2016

NB - Dates are subject to change.

Stakeholder Queries
Share Registry Enquires:

Link Market Services Limited
Locked Bag A14

Sydney South, NSW 1235
Australia

Telephone (within Austraiia): 1300 139 653

E-mail: registrars@linkmarketservices.com.au

Website: www.linkmarketservices.com.au

Company Enquiries:

Mark Hooper Jeff Sells Gary Woodford
Managing Director Chief Financial Officer Manager Corporate Affairs

PO Box 2890
Rowville VIC 3178
Australia

Telephone: 0392159215
Fax: 0392159188
The Final Report and other company information can be found on Sigma’s website at www.sigmaco.com.au

SIGMA PHARMACEUTICALS LIMITED ABN 15 088 417 403
Registered Office: 3 Myer Place, Rowville VIC 3178
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Directors’ Report

The Directors’ Report of Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited {the "Company”) and its controlled entities (the “Group”} for the
financial year ended 31 January 2016.

Directors
Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this Report were:

Mr B Jamieson
Mr M Hooper
Mr D Bayes
Mr R Gunston
Mr D Manuel
Ms L Nicholls, AO — retired 9 December 2015
Ms K Spargo — appointed 9 December 2015
Company Secretary: Mr S Lawson — appointed 1 February 2016
Mr J Sells — appointed 30 October 2015 (interim appointment until 1 February 20186)

Ms S Morgan — resigned 30 October 2015

Directors’ interests in share capital, options and performance rights of the Company
Details of the directors' relevant interests in shares, options and performance rights of the Company at the date of this Report
are as follows:

Number of fully paid Number of performance
ordinary shares rights/options over fully paid
ordinary shares

Mr B Jamieson 679,847

Mr M Hooper 3,429,742 29,637,359
Mr D Bayes 280,467

Mr R Gunston 164,719 -
Mr D Manuel 176,985

Ms K Spargo 1,501

Former Directors

Ms L Nicholls, AQ 586,112 -

Board and committee meeting attendance
The table below shows the attendance of Directors of the Company at meetings of the Board and its Committees {where the
Director was & member of a Committee).

Total Board meetings held during the year includes 8 monthly scheduled meetings and no ad-hoc meetings.
Risk Management and Audit Committee Members = Mr D Bayes, Mr R Gunston, Ms K Spargo (appointed: @ December 201 5)

and Ms L Nicholls AO (refired: 9 December 2015)
Remuneration and Nominations Committee Members = Mr D Bayes, Mr R Gunston and Mr D Manuel

Board of Directors’ Board of Directors’ Risk Management & Remuneration &
Meetings Mestings Audit Nomination
{Monthly Scheduled) (Unscheduled) Commitiee Meetings Committee Meetings
No. held No. No. held No. No. held No. No. held No. attended
during Attended during Attended during attended during {members
Directors the term the term the term (members the term only)
only)
Mr B Jamieson 8 8 -
Mr M Hooper 8 8 - - - - -
Mr D Bayes 8 8 - 4 4 6 6
Mr R Gunston 8 7 - 4 4 (<] 5
Mr D Manuel 8 8 - 6 6
Ms K Spargo 1 1 - - - -

Former Directors
Ms L Nicholis AQ 8 7 - - 4 3



Directors’ Report continued

Operating and Financial Review
Operations

The Group has Australia’s largest pharmacy-ted network, including over 700 refail brand members representing the brands
Ameal, Guardian, PharmaSave, Chemist King and Discount Drugstores (DDS). The Group is the largest full line pharmaceutical
wholesale and distribution business in Australiia, delivering daily to pharmacies Australia wide. The Group also manages and
promotes a range of Qver the Counter private and exclusive label products made available to brand member customers, as well
as a generic range of private label products under the Pharmacy Care range. In addition, the Group, through its subsidiary
Central Healthcare Services {CHS) has a presence in the hospital pharmaceutical distribution market,

The only reporting operating segment for the Group is the traditional full line pharmacy wholesale distribution business, retail
and private label products.

Financial Performance
The consolidated profit attributable to shareholders was $50,502,000 compared to $52,773,000 for the prior year. The reported

profit for the current year was impacted by a significant one-off item. The underlying profit before financing costs and tax (or
EBIT), and profit after income tax (NPAT) is reconciled as follows:

$'000 2016 2015
Reported EBIT 80,071 78,055
Add back

Share of profit/{loss) of equity accounted investes, before tax 300 {6)
Acquisition expenses . 307
Loss on recognition of contingent consideration from prior year 7.784

Amartisation of other intangibles acquired in acquisition 240 -
Underlying EBIT 89,095 78,356
$'000 2016 2015
Reported NPAT' 50,502 52,773
Add back

Acquisition expenses . 307
Loss on recognition of contingent consideration from prior year 7,784 -
Amortisation of other intangibles acquired in acquisition 940 -
Underlying NPAT 59,226 53,080

" Profit attributable to the owners of the company
The Group's basic earnings per share is 5.0 cents. On the underlying basis, the basic eamings per share is 5.9 cents.

The Group believes the reconciliation of Reported to Underlying EBIT and NPAT is useful as it remaoves the impact of significant
revenue and expense items that are unrelated to the underlying performance of the business. This facilitates a more
representative comparison of the ongoing financial performance of the Group’s business between the financial periods.

Sales revenue for the financial year of $3,461,104.000 was up 10.2% from $3,142,126,000 in the prior year, reflecting:
=  anincrease of 9.9% in volumes delivered from Sigma warehouses during the year;
+ the full year inclusion of the CHS business, including the progressive migration to the Sigma Group of the
PharmaSave and Chemist King wholesale business;
the progressive migration of the DDS wholesale business to Sigma;
* the continued growth in OTC sales.

The Group continued a targeted program focussed on broadening its income base, this included achieving operationat
efficiencies and reducing customer discounts in order to help offset the impact of reduced prices flowing from the
Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme ("PB&"} price reform for certain pharmaceutical products. In addition, progress during the year
has been made in continuing to grow other revenue from investment in a number of service initiatives.



Directors’ Report continued

Financial Performance {continued}

Gross profit for the year of $260,463,000 was up 10.9% from $234,844,000 in the prior year. Operating margin was slightly
improved, reaching 7.52% (from 7.47% the prior year).

Other revenue of $73,240,000 was up 39.9% from $52,369,000 in the prior year. The full year contribution of PharmaSave and
DDS brand member fees along with continued improvement in rmerchandising and marketing performance from the Group’s
retail brand members were the major contributors to improved revenue during the year.

Warehousing and logistics expenses of $122,948,000 were up 10.0% from $111 ;734,000 in the prior year, The increase largely
reflects the 9.9% increase in volumes deliversd during the year, the full year inclusion of CHS, the impact of Enterprise
Bargaining Agreementis {EBA} and increased utility costs. Excluding CHS, warehousing and logistics costs were up 7.5%.
Significant productivity improvements in the future fo offset increases in volume and costs will be dependent on the investment
in the Group’s major distribution sites, which is currently underway.

Sales and Marketing expenses reached $61,147,000 for the year, up 33.1% from $45,931,000 in the prior year. The increase
was partly due to the full year inclusion of Sales and Marketing expenses incurred in the CHS, PharmaSave and DDS
businesses. There was also an increase in empioyment costs reflecting a new sales team structure implemented to support the
expanded business.

Administration costs for the year were $51 .786,000, up by 17.9% from $43,935,000 in the prior year. The increase resulted from
the full year inclusion of administration costs associated with the running of the CHS and DDS businesses, along with increased
employment costs relating to expanded husiness activities.

Net interest expense reached $3,480,000 for the year, up 41.5% from $2,459,000 for the prior year. The increase in net interest
reflects the lower average net cash held throughout the current year as a result of the increased utilisation of cash through
acquisitions and the ongoing on-market share buyback program.

income tax expense of $26,386,000 was up 15.6% from $22,818,000 in the prior year. The increase reflects tax payable on
improved profitability for the year from the existing business operations and the inclusion of CHS and DDS. A higher effective
tax rate this year of 34.4% is the result of the non-deductible one-off earn-out accounting adjustment and intangible amortisation
relating to the CHS acquisition. Excluding this ane-off, the effective tax rate was 30.9%.

The Group consolidated net profit after tax (NPAT) was impacted by the one-off accounting adjustment of $8,724,000, which
consisted of loss on recognition of contingent consideration from prior year acquisitions of $7,784,000 and amortisation of other
intangibles associated with prior year acquisitions of $940,000. These adjustments are required as a result of the acquisition of
CHS and DDS performing ahead of expectations.

Financial Position

The Group's net assets decreased by 3.4% to $553,654,000 from $573,001,000. The reduction largely reflects the on-market
share buy-back program during the year.

Since the Company's on-market share buy-back program commenced in Qctober 2012, $81,600,000 has been invested in
purchasing and cancelling 111,935,506 shares (9.4% of the issued capital of the company). The weighted average cost per
share over the life of the program is 72.91 cents per share. The total amount bought back includes 13,984,377 purchased in the
2016 financial year, costing $11,142,000 at a weighted average cost of 79.67 cents per share.

At 31 January 20186, the Group had net debt of $56,646,000.

The funding of the eam-out relating to the acquisition of CHS and DDS, and the on market share buy-back program, primarily
came from existing financial resources including debt facllities. The Cash Conversion Cycle, being the net of Day Sales
OQutstanding, Days Inventory on Hand and Days Payable Outstanding, remained consistent at 51 days. This includes the
consolidation of CHS and DDS. A continued focus on reducing average customer payment terms and maintaining an
acceptable spread of Payables to Inventory days outstanding has been maintained during the year. A summary of the working
capital performance and cash conversion cycle is as follows:



Directors’ Report continued

Financial Position (continued)

$'000 2016 2015
Trade Receivable 608,404 578,115
Inventories 288,626 251,385
Trade Creditors (406,657)  (373,883)
Working Capital 490,373 455,617
Days Sales Outstanding 64 66
Days Inventory Outstanding 34 31
Days Payables Cutstanding 47 46
Cash Conversion cycle days 51 51

The Group achieved an underlying Return on Invested Capital (“ROIC”) for the current year of 14.6%, up on the 14.5% achieved
for the prior year. Importantly, this ROIC has been achieved off a broader earnings base since the acquisition of CHS and DDS.
A confinued focus on working capital will be maintained, with further improvements expected in the coming year from a
significant improvement in the DSO.

Likely developments and expected results of operations

The Group'’s vision is to be Australia’s Partner of Choice for Health, Beauty, and Weiibeing. The Group's strategy is focussed on
strengthening our pharmacy network, building wholesale and distribution partnerships and capability, and continuously pursuing
innovations to stay ahead of industry changes. The Group's strategy involves reinvesting in the business to drive:

*  improved operational efficiencies through investment in infrastructure, technology and human capital;

¢ an expanded product and service offering to consumers, leading to a decrease in dependency on PBS related
eamings;

*  parinerships with suppliers to drive market access to the Pharmacy retail channel and improve cost effectiveness
through the supply chain,

The Group has embarked on a capital expenditure program that will see the upgrading of key distribution centres to drive further
operational efficiencies and improve service delivery. Construction of a new distribution centre for CHS in Sydney has been
compileted and became operational in October 2015. Land has been acquired in Berrinba in South East Queensland to develop
a new Brisbane distribution centre for Sigma. Construction contracts have been awarded, with works anticipated to commence
in the first half of the 2017 financial year. Analysis is also well advanced in identifying operational needs in other jurisdictions.

The Federal Government's PBS price disclosure reform is now entrenched as an ongoing Government policy that is likely to
continue to influence PBS pricing into the future. The Group's strategy is to target investment in the business, continued
emphasis on tightening customer trading terms, and continued efficiency gains in warehouse and logistics costs.

The sixth Community Pharmacy Agreement (6CPA) was finalised between the Pharmacy Guild and the Federal Government
during the current year. As part of this process, the Federal Government announced the commencement of a Review of
Phamacy Remuneration and Regulation to commence at the start of the 20186 calendar year with the aim of reporting to the
Health Minister by March 2017. Whilst the outcome of this review will not be known during this current financial year, this review
is important in assessing the structure and remuneration of the pharmacy industry long term, and Sigma will actively engage
during this process.

(%]



Directors’ Report continued

Material Risks

key part of the Group’s governance framework. Regular risk review meetings are held with both the senior management team,
and the Risk Management and Audit Commitiee of the Board to ensure risk treatment plans are actioned and refreshed. The
Group remains committed to continuous improvement in its approach to managing risks and to ensure a strong, integrated risk
and compliance culture is maintained.

Set out beiow is a description of the potential material risks associated with the Group’s business. It does not purport to list
every risk that may be associated with the Group’s business now or in the future and there is no guarantee or assurance that
the importance of these risks will not change or other risks emerge.

Regulatory reforms or legislative changes

The healthcare industry generally including pharmaceutical distribution is subject to significant regulation and the risk of
legislative and regulatory change. Legislative change is a matter for parliamentary approval, whereas regulatory reforms are
generally controlled through the relevant government minister.

The Federal Government Review of Pharmacy Remuneration and Regulation is expected to report to the Health Minister by
March 2017. The terms of reference for this review are broad, and encompass:
¢ the appropriate level and structure of remuneration for community pharmacy for dispensing medicines under the
*  the appropriate regulation of pharmacy and phammacy distribution, including the role of the pharmacy location rules;
e the appropriate level and structure of remuneration for wholesalers and pharmacies for wholesaling, logistics and
distribution of medicines;
*  what regulatory arrangements are necessary to promote high standards of delivery and accountability amongst
pharmacies, wholesalers, manufacturers and other entities;
¢ consumer experience, priorities, attitudes and expectations.

Whilst the outcome of this industry review will not be known during this current financial year, this review may have implications
(positive or negative) for Sigma’s business mode) long term. Sigma will actively engage during this precess and confinue to
review and refine our business mode fo evolve and adapt to the prevailing industry framework.

Competitive landscape changes

The Group is one of the three full line pharmaceutical wholesalers in Australia, and is subject to significant competition. There is
also the possibility of competition for wholesale services, via suppliers choosing to bypass the existing wholesale network. This
occurred when Pfizer made the choice to distribute exclusively to pharmacies directly in 2011. To date, no other supplier has
made a similar choice. The Group has continued to focus on its supplier relationships and maintains a regular engagement
programme with all key suppliers.

Loss of material customer or customer default
A new multi-year supply agreement was entered into with our major custorner group, mitigating potential loss of major
customers in the short term.

The Federal Govemment PBS price disclosure reforms referred to above have equally impacted on the profitability of
pharmacies over recent years. The Group maintains unsecured trade credit balances with pharmacy customers who can be
subject to loss if a customer enters financial difficulty and defaults on payments. In certain circumstances, the Group is entitled
to claim retention of title to inventory in a pharmacy, but this is not always possible and does not always cover all amounts owed
by a customer. The Group maintains rigorous credit policies and procedures and reviews credit exposures regulary.

an



Directors’ Report continued

Environmental regulations

The Group is not licenced or otherwise subject to conditions for the purposes of environmental legislation or regulation.

Dividends
A fully franked interim dividend of 2.0 cents, amounting to $21,618,000 was paid on 7 October 2015.

Since the end of the financial year, the Board of Directors have resolved to pay a final dividend of 3.0 cents per share fully
franked, to be paid on 21 April 2016 to shareholders on the register at the ex-dividend date of 6 April 2016. The total amount
payable is $32,383,000.

Events subsequent to the reporting date

(a) Renewal of a major customer contract

On 17 February 20186, the Group announced the finalisation of a long term supply contract with one of it major customers. The
new agreement is in place until December 2018 and provides an option to exclusively negotiate an additional 3 year extension,
The agreement also delivers further reduction in payment terms.

{b} Westpac receivables purchase agreement
The existing debtor securitisation facility of $250,000,000 was due to expire on 5 February 2016. On 22 February 2018, the

Company has extended the facility to 6 February 2017. The debtor securitisation facility is $250,000,000 and is subject to the
same terms and conditions.

Other than the matters discussed above, there has not been any other matter or circumstance that has arisen since 31 January

2016 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the
state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years not otherwise disclosed.

Directors’ and officers’ indemnities and insurance

As provided under the Constitution, the Company indemnifies directors and officers to the extent permitted by law for any
liabflity incurred to persons other than the Company or its related bodies corporate in their capacity as directors or officers
uniess the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith.

During the year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring its directors and officers against a liability of this

nature. In accordance with normal commercial practices, under the terms of the insurance contracts, the nature of the liabilities
insured against and the amounts of premiums paid are confidential.

Non-audit services

The Company’s Risk Management and Audit Committes ("RMAC") is responsible for the maintenance of audit independence.

Specifically, the RMAC Charter ensures the independence of the auditor is maintained by:

a) Limiting the scope and nature of non-audit services that may be provided; and

b) Requiring that permitted non-audit services must be pre-approved by the Chairman of the RMAC.
During the current year, the external auditor did not provide any non-audit services.
Auditor's independence declaration

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on
page 30,

11



Directors’ Report continued

CEO and Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer declaration

The CEQ and Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer have given a declaration to the Board concerning the Group's
financial statements under section 295A(2) of the Corporations Act 2001 and recommendations 4.1 and 7.2 of the ASX
Corporate Governance Council Principles of Good Corparate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations in regards to

the integrity of the financial statements.

Directors’ and Executive Officers’ remuneration policy

Details of the Group’s Remuneration Policy in respect of the Directors and Senior Managers are included in the Remuneration
Report on pages 13 to 29. Details of the remuneration paid to each Non-Executive Director, the CEO and Managing Director
and other Senior Managers are detailed in the Remuneration Report. The Remuneration Report is incorporated in and forms
part of this Directors’ Report.

Rounding

The Company is of the kind referred to in the Australian Securities and Investments Commission Class Order No. 98/100 and in
accordance with this Class Order, amounts in the financial statements and this report have been rounded off to the nearest
thousand dollars, unless specifically stated to be otherwise.

{[ectors’ Report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors, and signed for and on behalf of the
Y

o

Mr Mark Hooper
CEQ and Managing Director

Mr Brian Jamieson
Chairman

22 March 2016
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Introduction

Dear Shareholder,

On behalf of the Board | am pleased to present Sigma's 2015/16 Remuneration Report (Report). The format of this year's
Report remains largely consistent with last year following positive shareholder feedback on the clarity it provides in
demonstrating the links between our strategy, our performance and executive remuneration outcomes.

As discussed in the Annual Review, a successful 2015/16 has seen underlying Eamings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT}
increase to $89.1 million from $78.4 million in 2014/15. Against a backdrop of flat PBS, this is a strong performance that refiects
our focus on revenue diversification, a sustained facus on costs and the ongoing returns from our reinvestment program.

Over the last five years Sigma’s share price has increased from $0.43" to $0.82%. Absolute share price growth during this period
equates to nearly 91% and coupled with fully franked dividend payments of 33 cents, Total Shareholder Return (TSR) is in
excess of 167%.

Consistent with our commitment to ensuring remuneration is linked to Company perfermance; this year's actual incentive
payments to our Executives reflect the strong Group performance outcomes. An overview of the key remuneration outcomes
for the financial year is as follows:

e Based on the achievement of pre-defined performance targets, the CEQ/Managing Director earned 97.5% and the
other Executives eamed an average of 86.25% of their maximum Short Term Incentive (STI} payment (set out on
page 21}

*  After testing the vesting conditions. 100% of the 2013 Long Temm Incentive (LTI} vested on 31 January 2016 (set out
on page 22)

* In accordance with strong Group performance as well as individual performance, CEO/Managing Director fixaed
remuneration was increased by 3% and the other Executive fixed remuneration was on average increased by 7 4%
{setout on page 1B). This is the first increase in Executive fixed remuneration in twa years.

»  Taking exiernal market movements into account, Non-Executive Director remuneration was increased by 3% dunng
2015. This is the first increase in Non-Executive Director remuneration in two years.

In line with ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations, we have continued our Board review activities;
including ensuring the Board contains an appropriate mix of skills and experience as well as assessing the independence of
each Non-Executive Director. Further details regarding these activities are set out in the Corporate Governance Statement
published on the Company website.

The People and Remuneration Committee will continue to monitor the Company's remuneration strategy, ensuring its alignment
to shargholder interests and effectiveness in motivating and rewarding our team.

David Bayes
Chairrman — People and Remuneration Committee

1 Share price is the volume weighted average price of the Company’s shares traded on the ASX for the 20 days up to and

including 31 January 2011.
2 Share price is the volume weighted average price of the Company’s shares traded on the ASX for the 20 days up to and

including 29 January 2016.



Remuneration Report

The Directors of Sigma Phamaceuticals Limited (Company) are pleased to present the Remuneration Report {Report) for the
Company and its subsidiaries {Group) for the financial year ended 31 January 2016 {financial year). This Report has been
prepared and audited in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001,

For the purpose of this Report Key Management Personnel (KMP) are defined as persons having authority and responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Group, and include all Non-Executive Directors of the Company and
Executives who are listed in the table below.

Mr B Jamieson Chairmar

Mr D Bayes Non-Executive Dirgctor

Mr R Gunston Non-Executive Director

Mr D Manuel Non-Executive Director

Ms L Nicholls, AD Non-Executive Director (retired 9 December 2015)
Ms K Spargo Non-Executive Director (appointed 9 December 2015
Mr M Hooper CEQ/Managing Director

Mr G Durine Chief Operating Officer

Mr J Sells Chief Financial Officer

The above Non-Executive Directors and Executives were the KMP for the whole of the financial year, unless otherwise
indicated.

Remuneration Governance

The Board is responsible for determining Non-Executive Director and senior executive remuneration. The People and
Remuneration Committee (Committee) is responsible for providing advice and recommendations to the Board in regard to the
remuneration strategy, policies and practices applicable to Non-Executive Directors, the CEO/Managing Director and senior
execufives.

The Committee is governed by its Charter which is published on the Company’s website at www.sigmaco.com.au. The
Committee is comprised of a minimum of three Non-Executive Directors. For the financial year the Committee members were:

Mr D Bayes { Chairman

Mr R Gunston : Member §
Mr D Manuel " Member B

In accordance with section 206K of the Corporations Act 2001, the Committee has a process for engaging remuneration
consultants. The Committee, on behalf of the Board commissions and receives information, advice and recommendations
directly from remuneration consultants, ensuring remuneration recommendations are free of undug influence by management.

No consultants were engaged with respect to providing remuneration recommendations for the Non-Executive Directors and
Executives during the financial year. In order to ensure the Company’'s remuneration practices are consistent with the external
market, benchmarking data was obtained for Non-Executive Director and Exacutive positions.

Remuneration Strategy and Principles

The Company’s remuneration strategy is designed to attract, retain, motivate and reward employees by providing fair and
reasonable rewards for achieving high performance and creating sustained value for shareholders. The remuneration strategy
Is underpinned by four principles:
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Non-Executive Director Remuneration

Remuneration for the Company's Non-Executive Directors reflects the size and complexity of the Company's operations as well
as the responsibilities, accountabilities and time commitments of the Non-Executive Directors. |t consists of base fees,
committee fees and superannuation within the current maximum aggregate fee limit of $1.5 million, as approved by
shareholders at the Company's 2015 Annual General Meeting.

Taking external market movements into consideration, Non-Executive Director base fees and committee fees were increased by
3% effective 1 May 2015. This Is the first fee increase in two years. Total fees and superannuation actually paid to the Non-
Executive Directors for the financial year were $1,024,875, as set out in Table 1 on page 24.

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is not incentive based and Non-Executive Directors do not participate in employee
share plans or receive performance shares, rights or options over the Company's shares.

To ensure the interests of Non-Executive Directors are aligned with those of shareholders and in accordance with the rules of
the Non-Executive Directors Share Plan (Plan), 25% of each Non-Executive Director's post-tax fees are used to purchase
Sigma shares on market every three months. Shares purchased under the Plan cannot be transferred or sold until the Non-
Executive Direclor ceases being a Director of the Company, or the first day of the financial year following the third anniversary
of the purchase date, or a change of control of the Company, whichever occurs first.

The table below shows the structure and level of Non-Executive Director fees for the current and preceding financial years as
approved by the Board.

Annual Feg Structura®

| 201516 | 2014115
Chairman $295,223 $286,624
Non-Executive Directer $111,405 $108,160
Risk Management and Audit Committee- Chair $62,387 $60,570
People and Remuneration Committee- Chair $37,877 $36,774
Risk Management and Audit Committee- Member $31,194 $30,285
Peaople and Remuneration Committee- Member $18,939 $18,387

*includes the 25% of Non-Executive Director fees used for share acquisition.

In January 2006, the Non-Executive Director's Retirement Benefit Plan (Plan) was discontinued. Benefits accrued under the
Plan were calculated and, at the choice of the relevant Non-Executive Director, converted into Sigma shares or paid into the
Non-Executive Director's superannuation fund. Upon retirement, Ms Nicholls AO elected to receive the full balance of the
accumulated retirement benefits in cash. The table below sets cut the final balance of accrued retirement benafits, including
interest payment calculated based on the 90 day bank bill rate, for the period 1 February 2015 to 9 December 2015.

Interast |
Accumulated Appliod to Accumultatlod
Rotirement Existing Retirement

Mon- Benefits Balance Retlrement Average Retirement | Bepefits Balance
Exegutive Financial on 1 February Benafits Interest | Benefits Paid on 31 January

Director Yaar L] 5| Rato 5
- EAT i 1‘
: . 1 (upto® | 1 ; l } !
| )I"\\/Ics) L Nichofls, | December | 194,650 | 3.017 ] 2.32% ! 198,667 ‘ {
4 i _2015) | | _ 1
I 2014115 189,621 : 5,029 L 2684% - ! 194,650

Executive Remuneration

Executive remuneration is based on total reward structure comprising fixed remuneration and at-risk remuneration. At-risk
remuneration is made up of short term incentive (STI) and long term incentive (LTI), and is designed to align executive
remuneration with achievement of strategic and financial objectives that lead to the creation of shareholder value.

During the financial year, the People and Remuneration Committee conducted a review of the executive remuneration
framework to ensure it remains relevant and market competitive. As part of this review it became apparent that the 2 year
deferred equity component of the ST| was duplicating aspects of the LTI, with the final deferred STI reward payable at the same
time as the conclusion of the LTI performance period.

Following this review, the Board supported the recormmmendation from the People and Remuneration Committee to remove the
deferred equity component of the ST plan effective from the 2015/16 financial year. The Board is confident that the removal of
STl deferral:

* Wil strengthen the link between pay and performance by aligning performance period and incentive payment under
the STl plan

+  Ensures appropriate differentiation exists between the STI and LTI Plans, particularly in respect to the timing of
rewards and the method of delivering rewards

* Is consistent with the approach taken by other companies using a loan funded LTI plan, thus strengthening the market
competitiveness of the executive remuneration framework
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Due to the leveraged design of the LTI plan, the Board is satisfied that the removal of the STI deferral will not materially impact
executive shareholdings nor will it adversely impact executive retention or sustained company performance.

Fixed Remuneration

Delivery mechanism

» 100% cash payment
consisting of base salary
and statutory
superannuation
contributions

Considerations

Scope and complexity of
the role

Experience and
performance of the
individual executive
Internal and external
benchmarking

Strategic objectives

Set to attract, retain and
motivate the right talent to
deliver our strategic
objectives

Typically set at the median
of the extemal market,
allowing scope for
progressive increases
based on proven
performance in the role

*

At-Risk Remuneration

Short Term Incentive
(STI)

Delivery mechanism

* 100% cash payment

Parformance measures

Net Profit After Tax (NPAT) hurdle

« Minimum performance level must be
achieved to trigger any STI payments
{excluding KPIs relating to safety)

Financial measures

* 50% of available ST split evenly
across Net Profit After Tax (NPAT)
and Return On [nvested Capital
{RCIC)

= Budgeted target must be achieved for
minimurm payment and above budget
stretch targets must be achieved for
full payment

Non-financial measures

s 50% of available STl is aligned to the
achrevement of non-financial goals
that drive the strategic objectives of
the Company

Strategic objectives

NPAT hurdle ensures a minimum
acceptable level of profit before
executives receive any STI reward
Performance conditions designed to
support the financial and strategic
objectives of the Company and
shareholder retum

Non-financial measures aligned to
core values and key strategic and
growth objectives

Stretch targets must be achieved to
obtain maximum STI available,
encouraging a high performance
culture

» Qutcomes are subject to external audit
to maintan integrity of the reward

At-Risk Remuneration

Long Term Incentive
(LTI}

Delivery mechanism

» 100% delivered via shares in
the Company- allocated
upfront pursuant to Company
lean

= 3 year performance period
subject to service and
forfeiture conditions

Performance measures

Absolute TSR

s 50% of available LTi is
measured against absolute
Total Shareholder Return
(TSR)

e Vesting of the shares aligned
to TSR will occur when an
absolute TSR of 50% is
achieved during the
performance period

ROIC

« 50% of available LTi is
measured against ROIC
Vesting of the shares aligned
to ROIC will ocour when an
average ROIC of 15% is
achieved duning the
performance period

Strategic objectives

Allocation of shares upfront
aligns the nterests of
executives with shareholders
from date of grant

Designed to encourage
executives to focus on the key
performance drivers which
underpin sustainable growth in
shareholder value

Key benefits to participants
under the plan include capital
appreciation {consistent with
shareholder interests) and
favourable taxation treatment
{capital gains tax)

Outcomes are subject to
external audit to maintan
integrity of the reward

-

Total Reward

Strategic
objectives

+ Aftract, retain and
motivate suitably
qualified and
experienced
executives

« Encourage a
strong focus on
performance

= Support the
delivery of
outstanding results
for the Group over
the short and long
term

« Align executive
and shareholder
Interests through
share ownership



An appropriate reward mix is determined for each management level, with the portion of at-risk remuneration increasing with the
level of responsibility, influence and criticality of the role, The maximum potential reward mix for Executives is as follows:

CEOIManaging Director Other Executives

® Fixed Remuneration

= STl Opportunity (cash)

¥ LTI Opportunity {deferred
equity}

Fixed Remuneration

The fixed remuneration component of an Executive’s fotal reward is expressed as a total package consisting of base salary and
statutory superannuation contributions.

Fixed remuneration reflects the complexity of the individual's role, and their experience, knowledge and performance. Internal
and external benchmarking is regularly undertaken and fixed remuneration levels are set with regard to the external market
median, with scope for incremental increase for superior performance.

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually on 1 May, taking into account the performance of the individual and the Company.
There are no guaranteed increases to fixed remuneration in any contracts of employment.

In line with market movement, business and individual performance, the Board determined to award a 3% increase to the
CEO/Managing Director's fixed remuneration and an average of 7.4% increase to the other Executives, effective 1 May 2015,
This is the first increase in Executive fixed remuneration in two years,

Short Term Incentive

The short term incentive (STI) component of an Executive's total reward is an annual cash incentive plan. The STI links a
portion of Executive reward opportunity to specific financial and non-financial measures.

Component Commentary

Maximum ST| Reward Value 100% of fixed remuneration for the CEQ/Managing Director. 50% of fixed remuneration for
other Executives.

Hurdle Requirement An NPAT hurdle must be achieved to trigger any STI payment opportunity. The NPAT
hurdle is determined by the Board prior to the commencement of the financial year, taking
inte account the NPAT result for the concluding financial year and the budgeted NPAT targeat
for the new financial year. The hurdle excludes any significant uncontrollable or one-off
events and the initial impacts from business development initiatives, as approved by the
Board.

NPAT was selected as an appropriate hurdle as it is the best overall measure of Company
performance, is reflective of the generation of shareholder value, and is a measure readily
recognised by and reported to shareholders.

In recognition of the importance of workplace safety, KPIs relating to safety are excluded
from this hurdle requirement, are separately established and payable upon achievement.

Performance Measures 50% of maximum STI reward relate to Group financial measures, specifically 25% each is
weighted against ROIC and NPAT.

As a minimum budgeted ROIC and NPAT must be achieved for partial payment, and above
budget stretch targets must be achieved for full payment under these financial KPls.

Financial

ROIC was selected as an appropriate performance measure as it captures both profitability
and effectiveness of capital management, which are both important measures for
shareholders.

NPAT was selected as an appropriate performance measure as it assesses overall
Company performance and the generation of shareholder value.

Group financial calculations under the STI plan exclude significant uncontrollable or one-off
events, and the initial impacts from business development initiatives, as approved by the
Board.
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Performance Measures 50% of maximum ST reward relate to non-financial measures, specifically:
Non-financial CEO/Managing Director - business performance, business development and safety.

Other Executives - financial and operational performance, continuous improvement, delivery
of key strategic programs, operafional cost/efficiency and safety.

Each non-financial measure is selected based on its alignment with key strategic initiatives
that lead to increased shareholder value.

Governance All performance measures under the STl are clearly defined and measurable.

The Board, on recommendation from the People and Remuneration Committee, approves
the targets and assesses the performance outcome of the CEQ/Managing Director.

The CEQO/Managing Director sets the targets and assesses the performance of other
Executives.

The Board, on recommendation from the People and Remuneration Committee, approves
STl payments for the CEQ/Managing Director and other Executives.

Under the 3Tl plan, the Board has discretion to adjust STI outcomes based on the
achievements which are consistent with the Group’s strategic priorities and in the opinion of
the Board enhance shareholder value.

Reward Mechanism 100% of awarded STl is paid in cash upon Board approval of the audited year-end accounts.

There will be no change to unvested deferred equity granted from prior year STl rewards,
which will continue to vest subject to service and forfeiture conditions. Refer to table 3 on
page 26 for further details.

Financial Year QOutcome The NPAT result exceeded the hurdle requirement for STI payment for the 2015/16 financial
year.

Refer to page 21 for further details.

Long Term Incentive

The fong term incentive (LTI} component of an Executive's total reward is an equity incentive plan that is designed to encourage
Executives to focus on key performance drivers which underpin sustainable growth in shareholder value. The LTI facilitates
share ownership by Executives and links a significant proportion of their at-risk remuneration to the Company's ongoing share
price and returns to shareholders over the performance period.

Under the LTI, Executives are provided with a limited recourse loan from the Company for the sole purpose of acquiring shares
in the Company. The shares are granted upfront but are restricted and subject to a risk of forfeiture until the end of the
performance period and while the loan remains outstanding. The post-tax value of any dividends paid on the shares is used to
pay down the loan.

To gain access to the shares, the Executive must repay the outstanding loan following successful testing of the vesting
conditions.

Component Commentary

Maximum LTI Reward Value 60% of fixed remuneration for the CEQ/Managing Director.

40% of fixed remuneration for other Executives.

Performance Period Three financial years commencing on 1 February in the year of the grant.

The performance period reflects the business cycle of the Company. As a whalesaler,
strategic, operational and financial initiatives translate to a short to medium term impact on
the financial performance of the Company.

The three year period also reflects the competitive market practice in attracting, retaining and
rewarding high calibre executives, as 69% of ASX200 companies had a vesting period of
three years or less for their LTt plans during the 2015 financial year.

Delivery Mechanism Loan Funded Shares

Executives are provided with an interest free limited recourse loan to fund the acquisition of
shares in the Company. The loan period is 5 years and runs concurrently with the 3 year
performance period, thus providing a further 2 year exercise period beyond the conclusion of
the performance pericd, subject to the vesting conditions being met. The Executives may
choose fo repay the outstanding loan associated with any vested shares prior to its expiry.

The number of shares acquired is equal to the maximum LTI reward value divided by the fair
value (calculated using a Black-Scholes options pricing madel).

The loan value is equal to the number of shares multiplied by the issue price {market price
on grant date).
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The Executives holding loan funded shares have certain rights equal to all other ordinary
shareholders, such as voting rights, access to dividends, capital distribution and bonus
shares during the loan period.

The value of post-tax dividends is applied to repay the outstanding loan. At the expiration of
the loan period, the amount to be repaid is the lower of:

. the oufstanding loan less any repayments, and
. the market value of the vested shares.

The shares allocated to Executives for the 2015 LTI plan were purchased on market.

Vesting Conditions

50% of shares will vest if the absolute Total Shareholder Return (TSR) vesting condition is
achieved:

. Absolute TSR of 50% or higher during the performance period

Absolute TSR = (Sigma share price appreciation + dividends + value of franking credits) /
Sigma share price at the start of the performance peried

Absolute TSR was selected as an appropriate vesting condition as it measures the level of
return fo shareholders, taking into account share price growth and dividend payments
including the value of any franking credits.

In addition, the use of Absolute TSR is not limited by the challenges associated with
selecting a fair and appropriate comparator group given the size of the industry in which the
Company operates. The use of Absolute TSR also avoids scenarios of windfall gains or
losses to the Executives that can occur under certain circumstances within a comparator
group. The Company is confident in its ability to set an Absolute TSR target at a level that
benefits both the Executives and shareholders.

The remaining 50% of shares will vest if the average pre-tax ROIC vesting condition is
achieved:

. Average pre-tax ROIC of 15% or higher during the performance period {15% for
the 2014 LTI plan and 14% for the 2013 LTI plan}

Pre-tax ROIC = EBIT / (Total Shareholder Funds + Net Debt)

The ROIC vesting condition excludes any significant uncontrollable or one-off events and the
initial impacts from business development initiatives, as approved by the Board.

ROIC was selected as an appropriate vesting condition as it measures capital management
effectiveness, including outcomes of multi-year investment decisions.

Re-testing

No re-testing applies- shares that do not vest after testing lapse.

Exercise Price

lssue price (market price on grant date),

Disposal Restrictions

Dealing, transferring or disposing of shares is prohibited until the end of the vesfing period;
and the loan has been repaid or appropriate arrangements for repayment of the loan have
been approved by the Company.

Forfeiture Conditions

In the event of resignation, unvested shares are typically forfeited (subject to Board
discretion) and vested shares are retained, subject to repayment of the outstanding loar,

In the event of summary dismissal, unvested shares are forfeited as are any vested shares
that remain subject to an outstanding loan balance.

In the event of death or redundancy, the Board has discretion to determine an appropriate
outcome.

Governance

All performance measures under the LTI are ¢clearly defined and measurable,

The Board, on recommendation from the People and Remuneration Committee, approves
the targets and assesses the performance outcome of each LTI plan.

The Board, on recommendation from the People and Remuneration Committee, approves
LTI vesting for each plan. Confirmation of vesting only occurs onge the audited year-end
accounts have been approved by the Board.

Under the LTI plan, the Board has discretion to adjust LT) outcomes based on the
achievements which are consistent with the Group's strategic priorities and, in the opinion of
the Board, enhance shareholder value.

Financial Year Qutcomes

After testing the vesting canditions, 100% of the 2013 LTI loan funded shares vested on 31
January 2016. Refer to page 22 for further details.

Table 3 on page 26 and Table 4 on page 27 set out the movements of performance rights and loan funded shares during the

financial year.
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Linking Executive Remuneration and Performance

In order to evaluate Sigma's performance, benefits to shareholder wealth and remuneration for the Executives, the Board has
considered a range of financial indices, including the following, with respect to the current and preceding four financial years.

Financial Year

12 miotiths ended 31 January 201516 | 2014115 | 20134 | 201213 2011112

Share price (§)' | 0.819 0.765 | 0.629 | 0.692 0.570
Dividends paid in the financial year (cps) ; 5.0 2.0 4.0 5.5 16.5°
| TSR* 16.4% 26.2% (0.8%) 35.2% 86.3% |
| Pre-tax ROIC® | 48%" | 156%° | 146% | 135%° 12.4%
| EBIT ($m) L goa" 78.4° | 747 | 71.1° ] 692 |
| NPAT ($m) i 592" | 530° | 56.8 | 52.3° | 492 |

1 Share price is the volume weighted average price of the Company's shares traded on the ASX for the 20 trading days up to
and including 31 January.

2 An interim dividend was not paid during the 2014/15 financial year due to insufficient franking credits.

3 Dividends paid in the financial year include a special dividend of 15 cents per shara.

4 TSR = (share price appreciation + dividends + value of franking credits) / Sigma share price at the start of financial year.

5 Pre-tax ROIC = EBIT / (Total Shareholder Funds + Net Debt).

6 Excludes the impact of the 2012 class action settlement to earnings.

7 Excludes the impact of the 2013 litigation settlement to Vifor (International) Limited and acquisition costs.

8 Excludes acquisition costs and related earnings.

9 Excludes acquisition costs.

10 Adjusted for capital investment on new distribution centre, acquisition earn out costs and share of equity accounted

investees.
11 Adjusted for acquisition earn out costs and share of equity accounted investees.

Company Performance and STl Outcomes

For the Executives to qualify for a payment under the STI pian a pre-agreed level of Company profit must first be achieved.
Once this has been achieved, the level of payment the Executive receives is determined based on the achievement of their pre-
defined financial and non-financial performance measures.

The Board retains discretion to review and where appropriate, amend any aspect of the STI plan including Group andfor
individual performance, as the Board sees fit.

Financial performance during the current year exceeded our expectations. The NPAT result exceeded the NPAT hurdle
requirement for STI payment for the 2015/16 financial year. Furthermore, the NPAT and ROIC Financial KPls were achieved at
the stretch level.

The total STls awarded to the Executives for the financial year were $1,686,127, representing an average of 90% of their
maximum ST| opportunity, The table below shows the STI payments to each Executive for the current and preceding financial
years, as approved by the Board:

2015/16 2014115
Maximum STI [ ST
Oppartunityas STl STl Cash Deferred
¥ of Fixed % S5TI Y STI Paymant sm WET | Payment =T
Exscutives Romuneration | Forfeited Pald 5 Forfeitad Paid & | £
Mr M Hooper 100% 250% | 97.50% 1,186,127 20.00% | 80.00% 566,931 377,954
Mr G Dunne 50% 7.50% | 42.50% 255,000 10.00% | 40.00% 134,400 89,600
Mr J Sells 50% 6.25% | 43.75% 245,000 11.87% | 38.13% 118,950 79,300
TOTAL 1,686,127 820,281 546,854

1 50% of the deferred equity vested on 31 January 2016 and the remaining 50% will vest on 31 January 2017
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Company Performance and LTI Outcomes

The LTI plan focuses on driving key performance outcomes that underpin sustainable growth and the creation of shareholder
wealth in the longer term. This is achieved by motivating and rewarding the Executives to drive share price growth via
improvements to TSR and ROIC.

The following graph depicts the improvements to the Company’s share price since the introduction of the Loan Funded Share
Plan (LTt} in 2011. Absolute share price growth during this period equates to 91% and coupled with fully franked dividend
payments of 33 cents, this represents a strong return for shareholders.
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2013 long term incentive plan

Under the 2013 LTI loan funded share plan, the Company is required to achieve an average pre-tax ROIC of 14% and an
Absolute TSR of 50% or higher during the three year performance period for full vesting to occur. The Board retains discretion
to adjust the basis for determining LTI outcomes based on achievements which are consistent with the Group's strategic
priorities and, in the opinion of the Board, enhance shareholder value. The table below shows the lavel of vesting as approved
by the Board:

Vesting Actual altlm 0T LTI
Condilion Achisvement | Vasted Fatfeited

Performance
Pariod

Perforrnanca Messure

1 Februtary 2013 | Average pre-tax ROIC 1 14% or higher 15% '. 50% i 0% |
0 h T i 7 |
31 January 2016 | Absolute TSR | 50% or higher | 50% | 50% | 0% |

Upon vesting, the loan funded shares will continue to be subject to forfeiture conditions as described an page 20. Executives
may elect to exercise the vested shares within a two-year period at the pre-determined exercise price as set out in the table
below.

Vested and Exercise Price |

& & Exorcisable Exargise Datao 5.0 Expiry Date
Mr M Hooper | 6,623,452 1 February 2016 H 31 January 2018
Mr G Dunne 7 - 2,041,251 1 February 2016 0.6700 31 January 2018
Mr J Sells ! - 1,928,982 1 February 2016 0.6700 31 January 2018

Table 4 on page 27 sets out the details of the 2013 LTI plan vested to the Executives.
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Other Remuneration Disclosures
Equity Restrictions

Unvested equity (performance rights under the deferred ST award and loan funded shares under the LT! plan) are perscnal to
the Executive and cannot be sold, transferred, mortgaged, charged, hedged, made subject to any margin lending arrangement
or otherwise disposed of, dealt with or encumbered in any way. Breach of this provision will result in the immediate forfeiture of
any unvested equity.

Clawback Arrangements

The Board has discretion to adjust or cancel deferred STI, unvested LTI or vested LTI that is subject to an outstanding loan
balance, should the Board determine the specific circumstance warrants such action.

Employee Share Plan

To align their interests with those of the shareholders, employees of the Sigma Group at all levels of the organisation are
encouraged to hold shares in the Company. As a result of the Employee Share Plan, Sigma is pleased to report that
approximately 63% of all employees are also shareholders of the Company.

During the financial year the Company offered all eligible employees the opportunity to acquire shares in the Company on a 10
year interest free limited recourse loan. The value of any dividend paid and employee contributions are applied to repay the
outstanding loan, which can be extinguished prior to its expiration, subject o a 3 year disposal restriction period. The amount to
be repaid is the lower of the outstanding loan less any repayments and the market value of the shares.

A total of 468 acceptances were received resulting in 3,835,000 shares being allocated, all of which were acquired on market.

Leans to Executives

There were no loans to the Executives during the financial year, except as allowed under the employee share plan and the LTI
plan. Loans are not provided to Non-Executive Directors.

Transactions with Directors

Mr David Manuel and his Director-related entities purchased pharmacy products from the Group in the ordinary course of
business and on nomal commercial terms and conditions. The amount of these purchases during the financial year ended 31
January 2016 was $4,848,220 (2015 $4,857,124). The amounts receivable at balance date from Mr David Manuel and his
Director-related entities included within trade debtors in Note 9 was $577.185 (2015 $382,475). Amounts receivable from
Directors or Director-related entities are subject to the Group’s normal trading terms and conditions.

Other transactions entered into by the Company and the Group with Directors and their Director-related entities are within
normal employee, customer or supplier relationships on terms and conditions no more favourable than these available in similar
arm’s length dealings.

Service Agreements

On appointment to the Board, all Non-Executive Directors enter into a service agreement with the Company in the form of a
letter of appointment which summarises the policies and terms, including remuneration, relevant to the office of Non-Executive
Director.

The employment conditions and remuneration of the Executives are formalised in individual contracts of employment. No fixed
terms are specified within these employment contracts and the following termination provisions apply:

N c O e Period b 0 D D e Period b ployee
Mr M Hooper 12 months 6 months
Mr G Dunne 6 months 3 months
Mr J Sells ! 12 months 3 months

The Company may terminate an employment contract without cause by providing written netice, or making a payment in lieu of
the notice period based on the individual's fixed annual remuneration, Each employment contract provides for termination of
employment without notice in circumstances sufficient to warrant summary termination.
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- Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
e OI e ABN 74 490 121 060

550 Bourke Street

Melbourne VIC 3000

GPO Box 78

Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia

DX: 111
Tel: +61 3 9671 7000

Fax: +61 3 9671 7001
www.deloitle.com.au

The Board of Directors

Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited
3 Myer Place

Rowville VIC 3178

22 March 2016

Dear Board Members
Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, T am pleased to provide the following
declaration of independence to the directors of Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited.

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited for the
year ended 31 January 2016, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no

contraventions of*

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit;
and

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Yours sincerely

. 7
ol i Hoveber oty
DELOITTE WOUCHE T ATSU
'om Imbes

Partner
Chartered Accountants

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive

Income
For the year ended 31 January 2016

2016 2015
Notes $°000 $'000

Sales revenue 4 3,461,104 3,142,126
Cost of goods sold {3,200,641) (2,907,282)
Gross profit 260,463 234,844
Other revenue and income 4 73,240 52,369
Warehousing and delivery expenses {122,948) (111,734)
Sales and marketing expenses (61,147) (45,931)
Administration expenses (51,786) (43,935)
Loss on recagnition of contingent consideration from prior year acquisitions 23(a) (7,784) .
Depreciation and amortisation 5 (9,027) (7.558)
Amortisation of other intangibles acquired in acquisition 5 (940) -
Profit before financing costs (EBIT) 80,071 78,055
Financial income 1,977 1,519
Financial expense (5.457) (3.978)
Net financing expense {(3,480) {2,459)
Share of profit/{loss) of equity accounted investee, net of tax 25 210 (8)
Profit before income tax 76,801 75,590
Income tax expense 6 (26,386) (22,818)
Profit for the year 50,415 52,772
Other comprehensive income
ftems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or Joss
Net change in fair value of financial asset 18 150 -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 18 (41} a3
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 18 (33) (25)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 76 58
Total comprehensive income for the year 50,491 52,830
Profit attributable to :
Owners of the Company 50,502 52,773
Non-controlling interest 24 {87) {1}
Profit for the year 50,415 52,772
Total comprehensive income atiributable to :
Owners of the Company 50,578 52,831
Non-controlling interest 24 (87) {1)
Profit for the year 50,491 52,830

2016 2015
Earnings per share (EPS) for profit attributable to the ordinary equity Notes Cents Cents
holders of the company:
Basic EPS 3 5.0 5.1
Diluted EPS 8 4.7 4.8

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 January 2016

2016 2015

Notes $’000 $’000
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 31(a) 17,407 34,284
Trade and other receivables g9 618,248 589,057
Inventories 10 288,626 251,385
Prepayments 5,087 4,246
Total current assets 929,368 879,872
Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables 9 9,185 4,738
Property, plant and equipment 11 58,540 57,716
Goodwill and other intangible assets 12 101,538 98,261
Other financial assets 650 -
Investments accounted for using the equity method 25 - 7.934
Net deferred tax assets 13 9,370 7,142
Total non-current assets 179,283 175,791
Total assets 1,108,651 1,055,663
Current liabilities
Bank overdraft 31(a) 73,014 -
Trade and other payables 14 446,112 450,633
Borrowings 15 11 291
Ingome tax payable 12,808 12,682
Provisions 16 14,350 13,592
Deferred income 2,781 1,122
Total current liabilities 549,076 478,320
Non-current liabilities
Other payables 14 285 -
Borrowings 15 1,028 339
Provisions 16 3,989 3,560
Deferred income 609 443
Total non-current liabilities 5,921 4,342
Total liabilities 554,997 482,662
Net assets 553,654 573,001
Equity
Contributed equity 17 1,238,394 1,255,466
Reserves 18 10,648 20,386
Accumulated losses (696,890) {702,850)
Non-controlling interest 24 1,502 (1)
Total equity 553,654 573,001

The above consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financlal

statements,
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 January 2016

Contributed equity

Issued Treasury Accumulated contro':ll‘i):g Total
capital shares Reserves losses interest equity
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
Balance at 1 February 2014 1,336,065 {41,651) 17,537 {733,122) - 578,829
Profit for the year - - 52,773 4] 52,772
Other comprehensive income 18 - 58 - - 58
Total comprehensive income for the year 58 52,773 (1 52,830
Transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners:
Movements in:
- Employee shares exercised 17 - 2,639 - - 2,539
- Share-based remuneration plans 18 - - 2,291 - - 2,291
- Contributed equity 17 2,612 (2,612) -
Share buy-back 17 {23,389) {18,098} (41,487)
Dividends paid 718 - 903 {22,501) {21,508)
Dividends applied to equity compensation plan 18 - (493) - (493}
(20,777) (18,171) 2,79 (22,501) - (58,658)
Balance at 31 January 2015 1,315,288 {59,822) 20,386 (702,850) (1} 573,001
Profit for the year - - - 50,502 (87) 50,415
Other compreheansive income 18 - 76 - 76
Total comprehensive income for the year - B 76 50,502 (87) 50,491
Transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners:
Movements in:
- Employee shares exercised 17 2,959 - - 2,959
- Share-based remuneration plans 18 2,313 - - 2,313
Share buy-back 17 (11,142 (13,722) (24,864)
Dividends paid 7/18 2,903 (54,200} - (51,297)
Dividends applied to equity compensation plan 18 (539) (639)
Reclassification of settled and expired share
based transactions 17118 4,833 (14,491) 9,658
Acquisition of subsidiary with non-controlling
interests 24 - 1,590 1,590
(11,142) (5.930) {9,814) (44,542) 1,590 (69,838)
Balance at 31 January 2016 1,304,146 {65,752) 10,648 {696,890) 1,502 553,654

Note: All items in the consolidated statement of changes in equity are net of tax.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 January 2016

2016 2015
Notes $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers 3,841,276 3,477,773
Payments to suppliers and employees (3,777.370) (3.410,428)
Interest received 1,977 1,519
Interest paid {5,263) (3,832)
Income taxes paid {28,469) (3,718)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 3(b) 32,151 61,314

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment, software and intangibles 11,12 {7.196) (10,232)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 23(f} (42,045) (41,921)
Payments to acquire financial assets {500) -
Net cash outflow on acquisition of assaciate 25 - (7,940)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 109 26,097
Net cash outflow from investing activities {49,636} (33,996)

Cash flows from financing activities
Net repayment of borrowings (493} (217)
Payments for shares bought back 17(b} {11,142) {23,389)
Purchase of Sigma shares for employees (13,699) {18,098)
Proceeds from employee shares exercised 17(c) 2,959 2,539
Receipts from other loans receivable 1,275 164
Dividends paid 7 (51,297) (21,508)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (72,397) (60,509)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (89,882) {33,191)
Cash and cash equivalents held at the beginning of the financial period 34,284 67,468
Effects of exchange rate changes con cash and cash equivalents (9) 7
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial period 31a) (55,607) 34,284

¢

The above consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial

statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 January 2016
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

For the year ended 31 January 2016

1. Basis of financial report preparation

{a) Reporting entity

Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited {the “Company”} is a company domiciled in Australia. This financial report was authorised for issue by the
Directors on 22 March 2016.

Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited is the parent entity of the merged Group from a Corporations Law perspective. However, under the
requirements of Australian Accounting Standard AASB 3 Business Combinations, Sigma Company Limited was deemed the acquirer of
Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited (accounted for as a reverse acquisition in accordance with AASB 3).

The consolidated financial statements represent a continuation of the financial statements of the Sigma Company Limited Group (the
“Group”). For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company is a for-profit entity.

(b) Statement of Compliance
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (“AASBs"), other authoritative
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001,

Compliance with IFRS
The consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS") as issued by the International

Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

(c) Basis of preparation

This Financial Report is presented in Australian dollars, which is Sigma Phamaceuticals Limited's functional currency and presentation
currency. Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic envirenment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”).

This Financial Report is prepared on the historical cost basis except that derivative financial instruments are stated at their fair value.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange of assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technigue. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of AASB 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of AASE 117, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in AASB 2 or value in use in AASB 136.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the

inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which

are described as follows:

e  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

¢ Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and

*  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group is of a kind referred to in Australian Securities and Investment Commission (“ASIC”) class Order 98/100 (CO 05/641 and CO
06/51) and in accordance with that Class Order, amounts in this Financial Report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars,
unless otherwise stated.

(d) Use of accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards require management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. Actual results may ultimately differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. The estimates and judgements that have a significant risk of causing an
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Carrying value of inventory

The consolidated entity assesses whether inventory is recorded at the lower of cost and Net Realisable Value and ensures all obsolete or
slow moving stock is appropriately provided for at each reporting date. These caloulations involve estimates and assumptions around
specific inventories and to the best of management's knowledge inventories have been correctly and fairly recarded as at 31 January 2016.

Carrying value of receivables

The consolidated entity assesses whether trade receivables are appropriately provided for at each reporting date. These calculations
involve estimates and assumptions around specific customers and to the best of management's knowledge impairment of receivables have
been correctly and fairly recorded as at 31 January 2016.

Page 36



Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

For the year ended 31 January 2016

1. Basis of financial report preparation (continued)

Estimation of useful lives of assets
The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on historical and industry experience and lease terms (for leased equipment).

Adjustments to useful life are made when considered necessary.

Share based payment transaction
The Company measures the cost of equity settled securities allocated to employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments

at the date at which they are granted.

For the Executive short term and long term incentive plans and Performance rights plan, the fair value of the performance share rights is
determined using Black Scholes pricing model. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share based payments
would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period but may impact the share based
payment expense and equity.

Lease make good

The consclidated entity assesses its provision for rehabilitation (*make good provisions™) under its lease agreements on distribution centres
at each reporting date. Estimates and assumptions are made in determining the provision as there are numerous factors that will affect the
ultimate liability payable. These factors include estimates of the extent and costs of rehabilitation activities, cost Increases and changes in
discount rates. Those uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure differing from the amounts currently provided. The provision at
balance date represents management's best estimate of the present value of the future make good costs required.

Impairment and recoverable amount of assets other than goodwill

The consolidated entity assesses impairment of all assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Group and to the
particular asset that may lead to impairment. These include product, technology, economic, environmental and political environments and
future expectations. If an impairment trigger exists the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. There was no impairment recognised
during the year as a result of this.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates and underlying
assumptions are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period; or in the period and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Goodwill

During the prior year the Group acquired subsidiaries under an agreement that requires additional consideration to be paid to the previous
owners based on the subsidiaries achieving defined profit performance in a future trading period. The goodwill calculation has involved
estimates and assumptions around the detemmination of the subsidiary future trading performance and the resultant additional consideration
te be paid. To the best of management’s knowledge the goodwill and the contingent consideration are fairly recorded at pericd end. (Refer
fo Note 23),

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in vse calculation requires the estimation of future cash flows that are expected to arise from the cash generating unit
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. {Refer to Note 12).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

For the year ended 31 January 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements,
and have been applied consistently by Group entities.

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Sigma Phammaceuticals Limited, being the
parent entity as at 31 January 2016 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited and its
subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report as the Group or the consolidated entity. Subsidiaries are all entities (including
speclal purpose entities) over which the Group has control. Control is achieved when the Company:

*  has power over the investee;

* is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

¢  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power
over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.
The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or hot the Company's voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

=  the size of the Company's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

»  potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;

e rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous sharehelders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains controf over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control of
the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed fo the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-contrelling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting palicies into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business combinations

Acquigitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilifies
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Atthe acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that deferred tax
assets or liabilities are recognised and measured in accordance with AASB 112 ‘Income Taxes'.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree,
and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquirae (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the acquisition date.

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments
against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement
period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent aceounting for changes in the fafr value of contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an
asset or liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with AASB 139, or AASB 137 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets’, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 January 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

Business combinations {continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the
Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is ingomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the
measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of the acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating
units (or Groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is indication
that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. An impairment loss recoagnised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

Use of special purpose vehicle
The special purpose vehicle used is in relation to the Sigma Employee Share Plan (“ESP"). Any amount of unvested shares held by the
ESP are owned by the consolidated entity until they vest and these unvested shares at cost are eliminated on consolidation within equity as

shares held by the equity compensation plan.

The activities of the share plan are effectively being conducted on behalf of the Company according to specific business needs and in
essence the Company has the right to obtain the majority of the benefits from the ESP's activities.

Accordingly the ESP is consolidated into the Group results and intra-group transactions are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investments in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of
accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance
with AASB 5. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. When the Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest in that associate {which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the peried in which the Investment is acquired. The requirements of AASBE 139
are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the Group's investment in an associate,
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with AASB 136
Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of valug in use and fair vaiue less costs to sell) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with AASB 136 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an associate, or when the investment
is classified as held for sale. The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an investment in
a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon
such changes in ownership interests. When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the Group continues to use the
equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities. When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

(b} Revenue

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods (net of retums, discounts and allowances) is recognised in profit or loss when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery
of the consideration due, the amount of revenue cannot be measured reliably, or there is continuing managerial involvement with the goods,

Sales made during the ordinary course of business and on nermal terms and conditions have an agreed period in which the inventory can
be returned. An appropriate provision is recognised for these returns.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

For the year ended 31 January 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Community Service Obligation (*CS0")

A Community Service Obligation is an arrangement whereby the government provides a pool of funding which is available to qualifying
wholesalers to provide services that would not otherwise be provided by that organisation in the pursuit of its other objectives. In the
Group's case this requirement is around minimum delivery obligations Australia wide. The Government provides income to the Group to
compensate for the higher expenditure incurred to meet these minimum delivery obligations.

Revenue from CSQ is recognised when the consolidated entity has complied with the conditions attached to the obligation and has
reasonable assurance that the income will be received.

Other revenue

Membership income

The Amcal, Guardian, PharmaSave and Discount Drugstores banner steres pay an annual membership fee fo the Group. This membership
fee entitles the stores to access certain Group's discounts {specifically applicable to banner members) and other benefits including Group
catalogue advertising. This revenue is recognised over the period of the year which matches the period over which the services are
rendered,

Commissions and fees

This category primarily covers fees billed by the Group to customers for specific deliveries of dangerous goods. This risk fee covers the
incremental cost incurred by the Group associated with the delivery of these specific goods. This revenue is recognised once the delivery
service has been performed.

Marketing services and promotional income
This category relates to income received from suppliers relating to prometional services rendered. This revenue is recognised once the
service obligations have been performed.

Renials and other trading revenue
Other revenue includes sub-lease rentals. Sub-lease revenue is recognised on a straight line basis over the period of lease.

Government granits
Grants from the government are recognised at thelr fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the

Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs
that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as deferred income and
are credited to profit or loss on straight line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

(c) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are determined by dividing the net profit attributable to members of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus elements.

Diluted eamings per share are determined by dividing the net profit attributable to members of the Company, by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares adjusted for any bonus elements.

(d) Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into Australian currency at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are brought to account in profit or loss, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges. The
assets and liabilities of foreign controlled subsidiaries are translated into Australian currency at rates of exchange current at balance date,
while revenues and expenses are translated at the average rate calculated for the period. Exchange rate differences arising on translation
are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve.

(e) Finance costs
Finance costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred, except where they are included in the costs of qualifying
assets. Finance costs which are directly attributable to the acquisition of, or production of, a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset using the weighted average cost of borrowings. Finance costs include:

=  interest on bank overdrafts, short-term and long-term borrowings

+  interest payable on Westpac debtors securitisation facility

» finance lease charges and

¢ amortisation of anciliary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowings.

The Group has a debtors' securitisation program called Westpac debtors securitisation facility. The terms of this facility are such that the

risk of the defaulting debtors lies with the Group and the equivalent external debt is therefore recorded on balance sheet. The costs
associated with this program are recognised as “financial expense” in profit or loss.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 January 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the Goods and Service tax (GST), except as stated below or if the amount of GST
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office ("ATO"). In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of the asset or as part of an expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is
included as a current asset or current liability in the Statement of Financial Position. Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flow
on a gross basis. The GST compenent of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to,
the ATO is classified as operating cash flows.

{9) Dividends
Dividends are recognised when an obligation to pay a dividend arises, following declaration of the dividend by the Company’s Board of

Directors.

(h) Impairment and recoverable amount of assets

Impairment

The carrying amounts of the consolidated entity's assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. {f any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss unless the asset has previously been revalued, In which case the impairment loss is
recognised as a reversal to the extent of that previous revaluation with any excess recognised through the profit or loss.

Calcutation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of their fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of maney and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does rot generate largely independent cash inflows, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Reversals of impairment

Impairment losses are reversed when there is an indication that the im paiment loss may no longer exist and there has been a change in
the estimate used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect of a held-to-maturity security or receivabie carried at
amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the

impairment loss was recognised.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the assef's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation or 2mortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and highly liquid investments and notes with maturity of three months or less when

purchased.

(i) Receivables
The majority of trade debtors are settted within 40-120 days of the invoice date and are carried at amounts due less pravision for
impaimment. They are presented as current assets unless collection is not expected for more than 12 months after the reporting date.

When receivables are considered to be impaired the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and
the amount of the loss is recognised In profit or loss. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account
for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in profit or loss.

The recoverable amount of the consclidated entity’s receivables carried at amortised cost is calculated as the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the criginal effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of these
financial assets). Receivables with a short duration are not discounted. Impairment of receivables is not recognised until objactive evidence
is available that a loss event has occurred. Receivables are individually assessed for impairment.

(k) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the basis of weighted average cost.

Net realisable value is determined on the basis of each inventory line's normal selling pattern. Obsolete and slow moving stocks are allowed
for, to ensure the inventories are recorded at net realisable value where such valus is below cost.

() Investments
Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost in the individual financial statements of Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited. An impairment loss

is recognised whenever the carrying amount of the investment exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of value
in use and fair value less costs to sell.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 January 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

{m) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Subsequent expenditure is added to the camrying value of
the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess of the original assessed standard of performance of the existing asset
will flow to the operation. All other subsequent expenditure is expensed in the period in which it is incurred.

Property, plant and equipment, other than freehold iand, is depreciated or amortised on an either straight-line basis or diminishing value
method at various rates dependent upon the estimated average useful life for that asset. The estimated useful lives of each class of asset
are as follows —

Buildings 40 years
Plant and Equipment 2 to 20 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when na future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the profit or loss in the period the item is
derecognised.

{n) Intangibles
intangibles are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses where applicable. Intangible assets acquired
separately are capitalised at cost or if arising from a business combination at fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Net identifiable assets acquired. Goodwill is not

amortised. Goodwill is tested at least annually for impaimment.

Brand names
Brand names have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. They are amortised over their expected useful

lives, which vary from 25 to 60 years.

Software
Capitalised software are initially recorded at cost and amortised on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives but not greater than a

pericd of 7 years.

(o) Leases

Leases under which the consolidated entity assumes substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership are classified as finance leases.
Other leases are classified as operaling leases. Assets, which are subject to finance leases, are capitalised. The initial amount of the lease
asset is the lower of the fair value of the asset and the present value of minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability represents
the future rental obligations net of finance charges. Lease assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of the relevant lease, or
where it is likely the consolidated entity will obtain ownership of an asset, the life of asset.

Lease liabilities are reduced by repayments of principal. The interest components of lease payments are charged against profit or loss.

Operating leases are not capitalised. Operating lease payments are charged to profit or loss as incurred on a straight-line basis.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate
benefits of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight line basis, except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

(p) Trade payables
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services provided prior to the end of the reporting period. Trade

accounts payable are nomally settled within 30- 60 days of the invaice date.

{q) Interest bearing liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless there is an unconditional right to defer settiement of the liability for at

least 12 months after balance date.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs.

(r) Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present legal, equitable or constructive obligation exists and can be reliably measured as a result of a past
event and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the abligation, the timing or amount of which is
uncertain,

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Provision for Directors' retirement

A provision for Directors’ retirement benefits is recognised in respect of all eligible non-executive Directors who have served in that capacity
for at least five years with a pro-rata entilement accrual commencing after three years service, This benefit was frozen at 31 January 2006
whereby Directors’ will receive their frozen entitiement (plus interest).

Rationalisation and restructuring

A provision for rationalisation and restructuring is recognised when the Group is committed to the restructuring plan and expected costs
associated with the restructuring are based on the best estimate of the direct expenditures to be incurred which are both directly and
necessarily caused by the restructuring and not associated with the on-going activities.

Lease make good

A provision for lease make good is recognised in relation to the praperties held under operating lease. The Group recognises the provision
for property leases which contain specific clause to restore the property te a specific condition and the amount is based on the best estimate
made by management.

{s) Employee benefits

Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to balance date. The benefits include
wages and salaries, incentives, compensated absences and other benefits, which are charged against profits in their respective expense
categories when services are provided or benefits vest with the employee. The provision for employee benefits is measured at the
remuneration rates expected to be paid when the liability is settled. Benefits expected to be settled after 12 months from the reporting date
are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the
reporting date. Contributions to superannuation plans are charged to profit or loss as the contributions are paid or become payable.

Long service leave

The provision for long service leave represents the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the consolidated
entity resulting from employees services provided up to the reporting date. The provision is calculated using expected future increases in
wage and salary rates including related on-costs and expected settlement dates based on tumover history and is discounted using the rates
attaching to High quality Corporate bond (2014: National Government Bonds) at the reporting date which most closely match the tenms of
maturity of the related liabilities. The unwinding of the discount is treated as long service leave expenses.

Superannuation plans
The consolidated entity contributes to various defined contribution superannuation plans. Employer contributions to these plans are
recognised as an expense in the profit or loss as they are made.

{t} Share-based payment transactions
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Sigma Employee Share Plan (“ESP"), Executive short term and long
term incentive plans and the Performance Rights Plan,

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in
Note 29.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity. At the end of
each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the options/performance rights reserve,

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods or services
received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service,

Sigma employee and senior executive share plans

Any amount of unvested shares held by the ESP are owned by the consolidated entity until they vest and these unvested shares at cost are
eliminated on ¢onsolidation within equity as shares held by the equity compensation plan. Dividends paid by Sigma Pharmaceuticals
Limited on shares held by the ESP are eliminated in full on consolidation. A transfer is made from retained eamings/accumulated losses to
a separate reserve on consolidation for the amount of the dividends applied to repay the loan balance as this represents a part of the
exercise price ‘paid’ by the employee. Dividends of forfeited shares are subsequently transferred back to retained earnings.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

{u) income tax

Deferred income tax is provided for using the liability methed for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all the deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax
losses, to the extent that is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry-
forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised. This does not ocour where the deferred income tax asset relating to
the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a fransaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor the taxable profit.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. Deferred income tax assets
and liabiliies are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (the tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the financial year end date.

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in profit or loss.

Australian tax consolidation

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities have formed a tax-consolidated Group with effect from 19 December 2005
and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head entity within the tax-consolidated Group is Sigma Pharmaceuticals
Limited.

Current tax expensefincome, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the members of the tax-
consolidated Group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of the tax-consolidated Group using the "separate
taxpayer within the Group” approach by reference to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the separate financial statements of
each entity and the tax values applying under tax consolidation.

Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses of the subsidiaries is assumed by the head
entity in the tax-consolidated Group and are reccgnised by the Company as amounts payable (receivable) tof{from) other entities in the tax-
consolidated Group in conjunction with any tax funding arrangement amounts (refer below). Any difference between these amounts is
recognised by the Company as an equity contribution or distribution.

The Company recognises deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses of the tax-consolidated Group to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits of the tax-consolidated Group will be available against which the asset can be utilised.

Any subsequent period adjustments to deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses as a result of revised assessments of the
probability of recoverability is recognised by the head entity only.

Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing arrangements

The head entity, in conjunction with other members of the tax-consolidated Group, has entered into a tax funding arrangement which sets
out the funding obligations of members of the tax-conselidated Group in respect of tax amounts. The tax funding arrangements require
payments to/from the head entity equal to the current tax liabifity/(asset) assumed by the head entity and any tax-loss deferred tax asset
assumed by the head entity, resulting in the head entity recognising an inter-entity receivablef(payable) equal in amount to the tax
liability/{asset) assumed. The inter-entity receivables/(payables) are at call.

Contributions to fund the current tax liabilities are payable as per the tax funding arrangement and reflect the timing of the head entity's
obligation to make payments for tax liabilities to the relevant tax authorities.

The head entity in conjunction with other members of the tax-consolidated Group, has also entered into a tax sharing agreement. The tax
sharing agreement provides for the determination of the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity
default on its tax payment obligations. No amounts have been recognised in the financial statements in respect of this agreement as
payrment of any amounts under the tax sharing agreement is considered remote.

(v) Contributed equity

Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Company. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a reduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

{w) Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently measured to their fair
values at the end of each reporting period. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of item being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as:

= hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedges)

= hedges of particular risk associated with the cash flows of recognised assets and liabilities and highly probable forecast
transactions (cash flow hedges), or

* hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net Investment hedges).

Changes in the fair values of derivative financial instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, to the extent that they are
effective as hedges, are recorded in equity. These cash flow hedges are recycled using the basis adjustment method. Changes in fair
values of derivative financial instruments not qualifying as hedges are reported in the profit or loss.

The relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions, are documented at the inception of the transaction. This process includes linking all derivative financial
instruments designated to firm commitments or forecast transactions. Whether the derivative financial instruments that are used in hedging
transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items is also documented both at hedge
inception and on an ongoing basis.

{x) Segments

AASB 8 Operating Segments requires a management approach under which segment information is presented on the same basis as that
used for intermal reporting purposes. Management has determined operating segments based on the structure of reports reviewed by the
CEO and Managing Director, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer (who collectively form the Chief Qperating Decision Makers
(CODM) of the Group).

The Chief Operating Decision Makers consider the business from both a product and gecgraphic perspective and have identified that the
Group operates only the Healthcare segment. The Healthcare segment represents the traditional full line pharmacy wholesale business,
retail and private label product ranges {See Note 3).

(y) Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial liability at the time the guarantes is issued. The liability is initially measured at
fair value and subsequently at the higher of the amount determined in accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation, where appropriate.

(z} Customer loyalty program

The Group operates a loyalty program where customers accumulate points for purchases made which entitle them to discounts on future
purchases. The award points are recognised as a separately identifiable component of the initial sale transaction, by allocating the fair value
of the consideration received between the award points and the other components of the sale such that the award points are recognised at
their fair value. Revenue from the award points is recognised when the points are redeemed. The amount of revenue is based on the
number of points redeemed relative to the total number expected to be redeemed.

(aa) Deferred income

Defarred income is recognised in the liabilities section of the statement of financial position and reflects income received that relates to a
future period. Such income is subsequently recognised in profit or loss as and when the obligations attached to the income are fulfilled by
the Group. Such income generally relates to prometional services to be rendered.

(ab) Other financial asset

Listed shares held by the Group that are traded in an active market are classified as available for sale and are stated at fair valus. Fair
value is determined in the manner described in Note 34. Gains and losses arising from the changes in fair value are recognised in the other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserves, with the exception of impairment losses which are recognised in profit or

loss.

{ac) Parent entity financial information
The financial information for the parent entity, Sigma Phamaceuticals Limited (the “Company”), disclosed in Note 32 has been prepared on
the same basis as the consolidated financial statements, except as set out balow.

(i} Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of the Com pany. Dividends received from associates are
recognised in the Parent entity’s profit or loss, rather than being deducted from the carrying amount of these investments.

(ii} Financial guarantees
Where the Parent entity has provided financial guarantees in relation to loans and payables of subsidiaries for no compensation, the fair
values of these guarantees are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of the cost of the investment.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(ad) New accounting standards and interpretations
In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Austrafian Accounting
Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to their operations and effective for annual reporting periods beginning on 1 February 2015.

The adoption of alt new and revised Standards and Interpretations did not affect the amounts reported for the current or prior periods. In
addition, the new and revised Accounting Standards and Interpretations have not had a material impact and not resulted in change to the
Group's presentation of or disclosure in these financial statements.

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [Part A - Annual Improvements 2010-2012 and 2011-2013 Cycles]

(effective 1 February 2015)

The Annual Improvements 2010-2012 has made a number of amendments to various AASBs, which are summarised below.

¢  The amendments to AASB 2 (i) change the definitions of vesting condition’ and 'market condition’; and (i)} add definitions for
‘performance condition’ and 'service condition’ which were previously included within the definition of ‘vesting condition'. The
amendments to AASB 2 are effective for share based payment transactions for which the grant date is on or after 1 July 2014.

¢  The amendments to AASB 3 clarify that contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability should be measured at fair
value at each reporting date, irrespective of whether the contingent consideration is a financial instrument within the scope of AASB 9
or AASB 139 or a non-financial asset or liability. Changes in fair value (other than measurement period adjustments) should be
recognised in profit and loss. The amendments fo AASB 3 are effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on
or after 1 July 2014.

¢ The amendments to AASB 8 (i) require an entity to disclose the judgements made by management in applying the aggregation criteria
to operating segments, including a description of the operating segments aggregated and the economic indicators assessed in
determining whether the operating segments have ‘similar economic characteristics’; and (ii) clarify that a reconciliation of the totai of
the reportable segments” assets to the entity's assets should only be provided if the segment assets are regularly provided to the chief
operating decision-maker.

= The amendments to the basis for conclusions of AASB 13 clarify that the issue of AASB 13 and consequential amendments to AASB
139 and AASB 9 did not remove the ability to measure short-term receivables and payables with no stated interest rate at their invoice
amounts without discounting, if the effect of discounting is immaterial,

¢  The amendments to AASB 116 and AASB 138 remove perceived inconsistencles in the accounting for accumulated
depreciationfamortisation when an item of property, plant and equipment or an intangible asset is revalued. The amended standards
clarify that the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner consistent with the revaluation of the carrying amount of the asset and
that accumulated depreciation/amortisation is the difference between the gress carrying amount and the carrying amount after taking
into account accumulated impaiment losses.

+  The amendments to AASB 124 clarify that a management entity providing key management personnel services to a reporting entity is
a related party of the reporting entity. Consequently, the reporting entity should disclose as related party transactions the amounts
incurred for the service paid or payable to the management entity for the provision of key management personnel services. However,
disclosure of the components of such compensation is not required

The Annual improvements 2011-2013 has made a number of amendments to various AASBs, which are summarised below.
= The amendments to AASB 3 clarify that the standard does not apply to the accounting for the formation of all types of joint
arrangements in the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself.
=  The amendments to AASB 13 clarify that the scope of the pertfolio exception for measuring the fair value of a group of financial assets
and financial liabilities on a net basis includes all contracts that are within the scope of, and accounted for in accordance with, AASE
139 or AASB 9, even if those contracts do not meet the definitions of financial assets or financial liabilities within AASB 132.
*  The amendments to AASB 140 clarify that AASB 140 and AASB 3 are not mutually exclusive and application of both standards may be
required. Consequently, an entity acquiring investment property must determine whether:
+ the property meets the definition of investment property in terms of AASB 140; and
¢ the transaction meets the definition of a business combination under AASB 3.

The application of these amendments does not have any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Standards issued for not yet effective

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2015 and earlier
application is permitted; however, the Group has not early applied the fellowing new or amended standards in preparing these consolidated

financial statements.

New or amended standards Summary of the requirements

Possible impact on consolidated

finangial statements

IFRS G, published in July 2014, replaces the existing
guidance in 1AS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes revised guidance on
the classification and measurement of financial
instruments, a new expected credit loss model for
calculating impairment on financial assets, and new
general hedge accounting requirements. It also carries
forwards the guidance on recogniticn and de recognition
of financial instruments from |1AS 39.

IFRS 9 is effective for annuai reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early
adoption permitted

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The Group is currently assessing the
potential impact on its consolidated financial
statement resulting from the application of

IFRS 9

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive Framework for
determining whether, how much, and when revenue is
recognised. It replaces existing revenue recognition
guidance, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11
Construction contracts, and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyafty
Programmes

IFRS 15 is effective for annual reporting period
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early adoption
pernitted.

IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers

The Group is currently assessing the
potential impact on its consolidated financial
statements resulting from the application of

IFRS 15.

The following new or amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements:

Standard / Interpretation

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on or
after

Expected to be
initially applied in
the financial year
ending

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation {(Amendments to IAS
16 and 1AS 38)
Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements {Amendments to I1AS 27);

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint venture
(Amendmenits to IFRS 10 and 1AS 28)
Annual improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle-various standards

Disclosure Initiatives (Amendments to IAS 1)
Accounting for acquisition of interests in Joint operations-amendments
Withdrawal of AASB1031: Materiality Amendment

1 January 2016

1 January 2016
1 January 2016

1 January 2016
1 January 2016
1 January 2016
1 July 2015

31 January 2017

31 January 2017
31 January 2017

31 January 2017
31 January 2017
31 January 2017
31 January 2017

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following |ASB standards and IFRIC interpretations were also in issue but not yet
effective, although Australian equivalent Standards and Interpretations have not yet been issued.

The group does not intend to adopt any of these pronouncements before their effective dates.

IFRSs and Interpretation

Effective for
annual periods
heginning on or
after

Expected to be
initially applied in
the financial year
ending

IFR316: Leases
Disclosures initiatives: {Amendments to IAS 7: Statement of Cash flows)

Recognition of Deferred tax assets for unrealised losses-amendment to IAS 12: Income
taxes
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 January 2016

3. Segment information

Information on segments

AASB 8 Operating Segments requires a management approach under which segment information is presented ¢n the same basis as that
used for internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers {CODM) of the Group. The CODM have been identified as the
executive team consisting of our Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director (CEQ), Chief Operating Officer {COO} and the Chief
Financial Officer (CFO).

For the year ended 31 January 2016 management determined that based on the structure of reports provided to the CODM and used by
them for decision making and resource allocation, that the Group continues to operate only in the Healthcare segment.

The aggregation criteria under AASB 8 — Operating segments has been applied to include the results of Central Healthcare Group and
Discount Drugstores Pty Ltd within the Healthcare segment. Central Healthcare Group and Discount Drugstores Pty Ltd are separate cash
generating units for impairment testing purposes.

The Healthcare segment represents the traditional full line phammacy wholesale business, retall and private label product ranges.

Geographical segments
The Group operates predominantly within Australia.

Information on major customers

Cne customer group contributes revenues which forms 38% of the Group revenues. This customer has a long standing relationship with
Sigma and the service contract expired in October 2015. Subsequent to 31 January 2016, the Group announced the finalisation of a new
agreement which will be in place untit December 2018 (See note 35). Sales revenue for the period to 31 January 2016 was $1,313.3 millicn
(2015: $1,166.0 million).
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4. Revenue and other income

2016 2015
$°000 $'000
Sales revenue 3,461,104 3,142,126
Other revenue
Commissions and fees 10,323 9,136
Membership revenue 15,997 12,914
Marketing services and promotional revenue 37,461 23,617
Rentals and other trading revenue 9,466 6,542
Total other revenue 73,247 52,209
Gther Income
(Loss)profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (7) 160
Total other revenue and other income 73,240 52,369
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5. Expenses
2016 2015
$'000 $°000
Expenses before interest and income tax;
Amortisation
Brand names 492 461
Software 3,060 1,796
Total amortisation 3,552 2,257
Depreciation
Buildings 493 500
Plant and equipment 4,982 4,801
Total depraciation 5475 5,301
Amortisation of other intangibles acquired in acquisition 940 -
Total depreciation and amortisation 9,967 7,558
Write down of inventories to net realisable value 3,303 3,435
Net impairment loss on trade debtors 765 563
Employee benefits expense 118,607 97,391
refined contribution plans 7,499 6,350
Employee share based payments expense 2,313 2,291
Directors’ retirement provision 4 5
9,205 8,022

Rental expenses on operating leases
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6. Income tax expense

2016 2015
$°000 $'000
Profit before income tax 76,801 75,590
Prima facie income tax expense calculated at 30% 23,040 22,677
Tax effect of differential corporate rate {(6) (6)
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable} in calculating taxable income:
Cther items 3,692 1,643
Effect of recoupment of capital losses not previously recorded (338) (135)
Amounts over provided in prior years (2) (1.361)
Income tax expense 26,386 22,818
Income tax expense comprises -
Current expense 28,264 22,635
Deferred benefit {2,179) 1,544
Adustments for current income tax of prior periods 301 {1,361)
Income tax expense 26,386 22,818

Unrecognised deferred tax losses

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of capital losses of $216,824,000 tax effected (2015: $217,162,000 tax effected)
because it ig not probable that the Group will have sufficient future capital gains available against which the deferred tax asset could be
utilised.
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7. Dividends
2016 2015
$'000 $'000
Dividends recognised by the parent entity 54,421 22,501
Less: dividends paid on shares held by Sigma Employee Share Plan {221) -
54,200 22,501
Less: dividends paid on shares issued under the Sigma Employee Share Plan (2,903) {993}
Dividends paid by the Group 51,297 21,508
Tax rate for Percentage
Cents franking Franked
per Amount credit
Share $°000 Date of payment % Yo
2016
Final dividend for the year ended 31 January 2015 - 3.0 32,803 16 April 2015 30 100
Ordinary shares paid in cash
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 January 2016 2.0 21,618 7 October 2015 30 100
- Ordinary shares paid in cash
Total dividends recognised by the parent entity 54,421
Less: dividends paid on shares held by Sigma (221)
Employae Share Plan
Less: dividends paid on the shares under the Sigma (2,903)
Employee Share Plan
Total dividends paid by the Group 51,297
2015
Final dividend for the year ended 31 January 2014 - 2.0 22,501 30 April 2014 30 100
Ordinary shares paid in cash
Total dividends recognised by the parent entity 22,501
Less: dividends paid on the shares held by Sigma -
Employee Share Plan
Less: dividends paid on the shares under the Sigma (993)
Employee Share Plan
Total dividends paid by the Group 21,508
2016 2015
$'000 $'000
Dividend franking account
Amount of franking credits availabie for the subsequent year 5,183 317

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the financial year, adjusted for:

(a} franking credits that will aris¢ from the payment of the current tax liability,

(b) franking credits that may be prevented from being distributed in subsequent financial years, and

{c) franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the end of the financial year.

Subsequent events
Since the end of the financial year, the Board of Directors have resolved to pay a final dividend of 3.0 cents per share fully franked, to be
paid on 21 April 2016 to shareholders on the register at the ex-dividend date of 6 April 2016. The total amount payable is $32,383,000.
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8. Earnings per share

2016 2015
Cents Cents
{a) Basic earnings per share 5.0 5.1
(b} Diluted earnings per share 4.7 4.8
2016 2015
$’000 $'000
(c) Profit used in the calculation of basic and diluted EPS
Net profit used in calculating basic and diluted EPS 50,502 52,773
(d) Weighted average number of shares used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share 2016 2015
No.‘000s  No. ‘000s
Shares on issue as at 1 February 1,093,425 1,119,954
Add: Effect of shares issued . 4,294
Less: Effect of share buy-back {8,032) (17,038}
Less: Effect of shares held under the Equity Compensation Plan (82,782) {66,491)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 January used in calculation of basic earnings 1,002,611 1,040,719
per share
Add: Effect of potential conversion to ordinary shares under executive rightsfoption schemes 66,500 44,626
Add : Effect of shares held under Sigma Employee Share Plan 10,141 5,479
Welighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 January used in calculation of diluted earnings 1,079,252 1,090,824

per share

Performance Rights and Options

Full details of share rights and options are included in Note 29. The rights and options are considered dilutive and are included in the

calculation of diluted eamings per share.
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9. Trade and other receivables

2016 2015
$'000 $°000
Current

Trade debtors (a) 604,259 576,740
Provision for impairment of receivables (a) (5,040) (3,184)
599,219 573,556
Other debtors 18,029 15,255
Other loan receivables - 1,767
Provision for impairment of receivables - (621)
- 1,146
Total current receivables 618,248 589,957

Non-current
Trade debtors (a) 9,185 4,559
Other loan receivables - 179
Total non-current receivables 9,185 4,738

(a) Trade debtors

Nearly all trade debtors are unsecured and the only collateral the Group retains in relation to these debts, is a standard retention of title
clause. There are some circumstances where the Group will obtain additional security from its trade debtors as part of its normal credit risk
management. In most cases the fair value of the retention of title approximates the carrying value of the trade debt.

Trade debtors have been utilised to secure a cash advance from the Westpac debtors securitisation facility of $73,014,000 at 31 January
2016 (2015: nil).

A proportion of trade debt has been classified as non-current on the basis that the recelvable will be collected over a perfod of greater than
12 months. Settlement of these debts is in accordance with agreed commercial arrangements that reflect terms and conditions
commensurate with settlement over such period.

Impaired trade receivables

As at 31 January 20186, current trade receivables of the Group with a nominal value of $12,868.000 (2015: $3,607,000) were impaired. The
amount of the provision was $5,040,000 (2015: $3.,184,000). The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to customers who are in
difficult economic situations. Each debtor has been assessed independently and taking into consideration all aspects of the debt and the
probability of recovery. Where debt recovery is remote, the amount has been fully provided, and in instances where there is a reasonable
prospect of debt recovery, an astimate has been made on the most likely outcome according to information available at 31 January 2016.

The ageing of these impaired Group receivables is as follows:

2016 2015

$'000 $'000

0 days to 90 days overdue 11,038 2,145
Over 90 days overdue 1,830 1,462
12,868 3,607

As at 31 January 2018, trade receivables of $15,539,000 (2015: $12,599,000) were past due but not impaired. Of the $15,539,000 balance,
$138,000 relates to the overdue but not impaired balance of the entities acquired during the reporting period. The Group has not recognised
& provision for doubtful debts because these balances relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of
default and are still considered fully recoverable. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

2016 2015

$'000 $'000

0 days to 30 days overdue 10,924 9,902
Over 30 days overdue 4,615 2,697
15,539 12,599
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9. Trade and other receivables {continued)

2016 2015
$'000 $'000
Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as foflows:
At start of financial year 3,184 10,994
Provision raised during the year 3,015 1,397
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible {1,159) (9,207)
At end of financial year 5,040 3.184

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in the profit or joss. Amounts charged to the
provision account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

(b) Fair value and credit risk
Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of the receivables mentioned above. In most circumstances,
the Group does not hold any collateral as security on trade debt, apart from a standard retention of title clause.

{c) Foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk

Information about the Group's exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risk in relation to trade and other receivables is provided in
Note 34,

10. Inventories

2016 2015
$°000 $'000
At Cost
Finished goods 294,488 255,742
Provision for obsolescence (5,862) (4,357}
Net inventories 288,626 251,385
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11. Property, plant and equipment

Land and Plant and Total
Note buildings equipment
$'000 $'000 $'000

At 1 February 2014
Cost 27,462 66,413 93,875
Accumutated depreciation (7.313) (33,675) {(40,988)
Net book amount 20,149 32,738 52,887
Year ended 31 January 2015
Opening net book amount 20,149 32,738 52,887
Additions 7,402 2,729 10,131
Acquisition of subsidiaries 23(b) - 1,076 1,076
Transfer of completed projects 49 (49)
Transfer of intangible software (486) (486)
Disposals (464) (127} (591)
Depreciation 5 {500) (4,801) (5,301)
Closing net book amount 26,636 31,080 57,716
At 31 January 2015
Cost 34,322 69,412 103,734
Accumulated depreciation (7,686) (38,332} (46,018)
Net book amount 26,636 31,080 57,716
Year ended 31 January 2016
Opening net book amount 26,636 31,080 57,716
Additions 753 6,337 7,080
Acquisition of subsidiaries 23(b) B 83 83
Transfer of completed projects 118 {118} -
Transfer of intangible software - (762) {762)
Disposals - (112) (112)
Depreciation 5 (493) {4,982) (5.475)
Closing net book amount 27,014 31,526 58,540
At 31 January 2016
Cost 35,193 74,374 109,567
Accumulated depreciation {8,179) (42,848) (51,027)
Net book amount 27,014 31,526 58,540
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12. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Brand  Software  Goodwill Other Total
Note names intangibles®

$'000 $'000 $’000 $'000 $°000
At 1 February 2014
Cost 24,357 9,281 - 33,638
Accumulated amortisation {10,264) (821) - (11,085)
Net book amount 14,083 8,460 - - 22,553
Year ended 31 January 2015
Opening net bock amount 14,093 8,460 - - 22,653
Additions 12 89 101
Acquisition of subsidiaries 23(b).(c) 36 2,110 75,217 77,363
Transfer from property, plant and equipment - 486 - - 486
Foreign currency movements 15 - 15
Armortisation 5 {461) (1,796) - - (2,257)
Closing net book amount 13,695 9,349 75,217 - 98,261
Year ended 31 January 2015
Cost 24,459 11,966 75,217 - 111,642
Accumulated amaortisation {10,764) (2,617) - (13,381)
Net book amount 13,605 9,349 75,217 - 98,261
Year ended 31 January 2016
Opening net book amount 13,695 9,349 75,217 98,261
Additions 106 - 106
Acquisition of subsidiaries 23(b)(c) 5 820 6,157 6,982
Transfer from goodwill to brand names and others 1,258 - {2,198) 940 -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment - 762 - - 762
Foreign currency movements (81) . - (81)
Amortisation 5 (492) (3,060) - (940) {4,492)
Closing net book amount 14,385 7,977 79,176 - 101,538
Year ended 31 January 2016
Cost 25,535 13,654 79,176 940 119,305
Accumnulated amortisation {11,150} (5,677) - {940) (17,767)
Net book amount 14,385 7,977 79,176 - 101,538

AOther Intangibles consist of customer relationships and supplier contracts

(a} Impairment of other intangible assets

Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. At the end of each reporting period, the
Group assesses whether there is any indication that intangible assets may be impaired. No such indication was evident at balance date.
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12. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

{b) Allocation of Goodwill

The goodwill associated with Central Healthcare Group and Discount Drugstores Pty Ltd was provisionally determined as at 31 January
2015 and has been finalised as at 31 January 2016. There is a decrease of $2,198,000 in goodwill, mainly attributable to an increase in
other intangibles of $2,198,000 after finalisation of the independent valuation of customer relationships, brands and supplier contracts.

For impairment testing purposes, the Group identifies its cash generating units {CGUs), which is the smallest identifiable group of assets
that generate cash inflows largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or other groups of assets. The Group's indefinite life
intangible assets are allocated to the Groups of CGUSs as follows:

2016 2015

Goodwill $'000 $°000
Central Healthcare Group {CHS) 25,448 35,026
Discount Drugstores Pty Ltd {DDS) 19,544 40,191
Sigma 28,027 -
73,019 75,217

NostraData* 6,157 -
79,176 - 75,217

* The NostraData goodwill has been measured on a provisional basis {refer Note 23). At 31 January 2018, no valuation has been
allocated to identifiable intangibles and the identification and valuation will be finalised over the coming months.

{¢) Impairment testing of Goodwill

CHS/DDS/Sigma
Calculation Methodology

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value in use. Value in use is calculated using a discounted cash flow model
covering a 5 year period with an appropriate terminal growth rate at the end of that pericd, for each CGU. The model utilises cash flow
forecasts that are based primarily on the annual plan presented to and approved by the Board on 10 February 2016.

The key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable amount of the CGUs are set out below and are applied consistently across the
3 CGUs (CHS/DDS/Sigma):

2016
Discount rate-pre tax 13.2%
EBIT growth rate (beyond approved annual plan}) 3.5%
Terminal value growth rate 2.5%

The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing
of goodwill:

. Cash flow forecasts are based on each CGU's annual plan for the base year {201 7) of the model. Cash flows for a further
four years have been extrapolated using consistent principles from the year one annual plan. These annual plans have been
presented to and approved by the Board.

. Terminal value is calculated using the Gordon growth rate model.

® Forecast growth rates are based on CP| adjusted for past performance and management’s expectations for future
performance in each CGU.

Management also believes that any reasonable passible change in the key assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of any of
the cash generating units to exceed the recoverable amount.

NostraData

The NostraData Pty Ltd acquisition occurred on 12 November 2015. The transaction was completed on an arm's length basis and
NostraData Pty Ltd is currently performing in line with expectation, therefore it has been determined that the acquisition value is a reliable
estimation of fair value less cost to sell at 31 January 2016.
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13. Net deferred tax assets

Movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the financial period are:

2016 Balance Recognised  Acquisitions Recognised Balance

1 February in income in equity 31 January

2015 2016

$'000 $:000 $'000 $°000 $'000
Trade and other receivables 1,816 119 - - 1,935
Inventories 1,600 158 - - 1,758
Trade and other accruals 3,043 848 44 - 3,935
Provisions for employee benefits 5,143 316 38 . 5,497
Gther 147 (an - (45) 55
Intangibles (565) 52 - 12 (501)
Property, plant and equipment (4,042} 733 . - (3,309)
Net deferred tax assets 7.142 2179 82 (33) 9,370
Deferred tax assets 12,163 1,158 82 (45) 13,358
Deferred tax liabilities (8,021) 1,021 - 12 (3,988}
Net deferred tax assets 7.142 2,179 82 (33) 9,370
2015 Balance Recognised Acquisitions Recognised Balance
1 February in income in equity 31 January

2014 2015
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
Trade and other receivables 3,586 {(2,895) 1,125 1,816
Inventories 949 70 581 ‘ 1,600
Trade and other accruals 2,348 561 134 - 3.043
Provisions for employee benefits 3,849 579 715 . 5.143
Other 610 361 (824) - 147
Intangibles (659) 119 . (25) {565)
Property, plant and equipment (3,557) {339) {146) - (4,042)
Net deferred tax assets 7.126 (1,544) 1,585 (25) 7,142
Deferred tax assets 11,824 (2.216) 2,555 - 12,163
Deferred tax liabilities (4,698) 672 {(970) (25) {5,021)
Net deferred tax assets 7.126 {1,544} 1,585 (25) 7,142
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14. Trade and other payables

2016 2015
$'000 $°000
Current
Trade creditors 406,657 373,883
Other creditors 39,455 76,750
Total current payables 446,112 450,633
Non-current
Other payables - Lease incentives {note 19) 295

Foreign currency risk
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other payables are denominated in Australian dollars. For an analysis of the sensitivity of
trade and other payables to foreign currency risk (refer to Note 34).

15. Borrowings

2016 2015
$°000 $'000
Current
Other secured loans 11 -
Unsecured loans - 201
Total current borrowings 1M 291
Non-current
Other secured loans 63 63
Unsecured loans 965 276
Total non-current borrowings 1,028 339

Weslpac Receivables Purchase Agreement

The Company by executing the "Receivables Purchase Agreement dated 28 January 1999" ("RPA”} and amended as part of the “Sigma
Amendment Agreement No 8”, dated 6 June 2014, has a debtor securitisation facility with Westpac Banking Corporation, expiringon 5
February 2016. The debtor securitisation facility is $250,000,000 and is split into an overdraft facility of $155,000,000 and a revolving facility
of $95,000,0600 (See note 30).

Subsequent to 31 January 2016, the Company has extended the facility by 1 year with the new expiry date 6 February 2017 (see note 35).

The facility is subject to interest cover and gearing covenants and provides the Company with additional funding Rexibility to meet its
working capital requirements. Using a pool of its eligible receivables as security, Sigma can draw down funds provided through advances
from Westpac pursuant to the RPA. Repayment of the Westpac advances oceurs from the collection of the underlying receivables,

The facility imposes rights and cobligations on Sigma with respect to the quality and maintenance of its debtor book, collection of
receivables, settlement and reporting to Westpac. As at the year ended 31 January 20186, Sigma has complied with its obligations under the
facility. The interest rate applicable to the facility is variable and Sigma does not hedge the interest rate.

Sigma rewards structure
The consolidated group operates a debtor securitisation programme. This programme allows Sigma to receive cash in advance due to the

fact that substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of debtors within the programme are transferred to a third party. Accordingly,
the debtors are recorded off balance sheet. The cost associated with this programme is treated as “sales and marketing expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Other secured loan
At 31 January 2016, interest bearing car loans amounted to $74,000, of which $11,000 (2015: nil) has been classified as current and
$63,000 (2015: $63.000) has been classified as non-current. The carrying amount of the other secured loan is a reasonable

approximation of fair value.
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15. Borrowings {continued)

Unsecured loans

As part of the acquisition of the Central Healthcare Group (comprised of Central Healthcare Pty Ltd, Central Healthcare Services Pty Ltd,
PriceSave Pty Ltd and PharmaSave Australia Pty Ltd}, the Group acquired an interest bearing three year loan of $653,000, which has
been used to fund a loan to a customer on a back to back basis. At 31 January 2016, the balance of the loan outstanding is nil (2015:
$469,000), of which nit (2015: $291,000) has been classified as current (payable within 12 months) and nil (2015: $178,000) has been
classified as non-current.

As part of Member Benefits Australia Pty Ltd acquisition, the Group acquired a non interest bearing loan. The balance outstanding as of
31 January 2016 is $62,000 (2015: $98,000) and classified as non-current.

The Group acquired a non interest bearing loan as part of NostraData Pty Ltd acquisition. The balance outstanding as of 31 January 2016 is
$903,000 {2015: nil} and classified as non-current.

The carrying amount of the unsecured loans at 31 January 2016 is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

16. Provisions

2016 2015
$°000 $°000

Current

Employee benefits 13,728 12,580

Lease make good 622 817

Directors' retirement - 195

Total current provisions 14,350 13,592

Non-gurrent

Employee benefits 1,283 1,123

Lease make good 2,706 2,437

Total non-current provisions 3,989 3,560

Movement in provisions

Movement in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

2016 Lease make Directors’
good retirement
$°000 $°000

Current

Carrying amount at start of year 817 195

Charged to profit or loss

- {write back)/additional provision recognised (18) 4

Payment made during the year (177) (199)

Carrying amount at the end of the period 622

2016 Lease make

good
$'000

Non-current

Carrying amount at start of year 2,437

Charged to profit or loss

- additional provision recognised 269

Carrying amount at the end of the period 2,706
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17. Contributed equity

2016 2015
$°000 $'000

Issued capital
Ordinary shares fully paid 1,304,146 1,315,288
Issued capital held by equity compensation plan
Treasury shares (65,752) (59,822)
Total contributed capital 1,238,394 1,255,466
{a) Movements in ordinary share capital - the Company
Details Notes No. ot

shares $°000
Balance at 1 February 2014 1,119,954,243 331,432
New shares issued 5,072,476 3,018
Share buy-back 17(g) (31,601,852) (23,389)
Reclassification of settled and expired share based transactions . (406)
Balance at 31 January 2015 1,093,424 867 310.655
Share buy-back 17(g) {13,984,377) (11,142)
Balance at 31 January 2016 1,079,440,480 299,513
(b) Movements in ordinary share capital - Consolidated
Details Notes No. of

shares $'000
Balance at 1 February 2014 1,336,065
New shares issued 5,072,476 3,018
Share buy-back 17(g) (31,601,852) (23,389)
Reglassification of setfled and expired share based transactions - (406)
Balance at 31 January 2015 1,315,288
Shara buy-back 17(g) {13,984,377) (11,142)
Balance at 31 January 2016 1,304,146

Page 62



Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 January 2016

17. Contributed equity (continued)

(c} Movements in treasury share capital

Details No. of shares $’000
Balance at 1 February 2014 (58,549,076) (41,651}
Shares bought on market (24,000,000} {18,098)
Shares issued to the Employee loan funded share plans (5.072,476) {3.018)
Employee shares exercised 5,703,294 2,539
Reclassification of setfled and expired share based transactions 406
Balance at 31 January 2015 (81,917,558) {59,822)
Shares bought on market {17,000,000) {13,722)
Employee shares exercised 5,503,107 2,959
Reclassification of setiled and expired share based transactions . 4,833
Balance at 31 January 2016 {93,414,451) {(65,752)

(d) Ordinary Shares

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding-up of the Company in proportion to the number of
shares held. Every ordinary shareholder present at a meeting of the Company in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll
each ordinary share is entitled to one vote. Ordinary shares have no par value.

(e) Treasury Shares
The shares held by the Sigma Employee Share Administration Pty Ltd are treasury shares which are the Company’s ordinary shares which as at
the end of the financial year, have not vested to Group employees, and are therefore controlled by the Group.

(f) Capital management

The Group's and the parent entity's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern so that they
can continue to provide returns to shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

{g) Share buy-back

During 2012-13 year, the Company announced that as part of its ongoing capital management strategy it would undertake an on-market
share buy-back of up to 10% of its issued ordinary shares. The share buy-back commenced on 2 October 2012. A total of 13,984,377 (2015:
31,601,852) shares were bought back during the year at a total cost of $11,142,000 (2015: $23,389,000). The average price paid was $0.80
{2015: $0.74).

Of the 13,984,377 shares bought back during the year, the Group has cancelled 12,510,122 shares in the current year. The remaining
1,474,255 shares bought back were cancelied in February 2016,

Page 63



Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

For the year ended 31 January 2016

18. Reserves
Foreign Options /
currency performance Employee
Fair value translation rights share Total
reserve reserve reserve reserve
$'000 $'000 $’000 $'000 $'000
Balance at 31 January 2014 197 10,048 7.292 17,537
Foreign exchange translation expense - 83 - a3
Options / performance rights expense - 2,291 2,291
Dividends appropriated 993 993
Dividend applied to equity compensation plan - (493) {493)
Deferred income tax - (25) (25)
Balance at 31 January 2015 - 255 12,339 7,792 20,386
Net change in fair value of financial asset 150 - 150
Foreign exchange translation expense (41) - (41}
Options / performance rights expense - 2,313 - 2,313
Dividends appropriated - - - 2,903 2,903
Reclassification of settled and expired share based
transactions® . {10,170) {4,321) {14,491)
Dividend applied fo equity compensation plan - - - (539) (539)
Deferred income tax {45) 12 - {33)
Balance at 31 January 2016 105 226 4,482 5,835 10,648

*Dividends of previously forfeited shares are transferred to retained eamings.

Nature and purpose of reserves

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve represents the cumulative gains and losses arising on the revaluation of the investment in other financial assets that

have been recognised in other comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to

of or are determined to be impaired.

Foreign currency transiation reserve

profit or loss when those assets have been disposed

Exchange differences arising on translation of the fareign cantrolled entity are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve. The

reserve is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the net investment is disposed of.

Option/performance rights reserve

This reserve is used to recognise the fair value of shares, performance rights and options issued to employees,

Employee share reserve

This reserve is used to recognise dividends paid by the Company that were eliminated on consclidation on unvested shares held by
Sigma Employee Share Plan referred to in Note 2(t). The reserve will reverse against share capital held by the equity compensation

plan when the shares vest.
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19. Expenditure commitments

2016 2015
Note $'000 $'000
{(a) Contracts for capital expenditure for which no amounts have been 2,675 2,265
provided
(b) Non-cancellable operating leases commitments *
{i} Expenditure contracted but not provided for in the financial statements:
- Payable not later than one year 9,467 7,240
- Payable later than one year but not later than five years 27,858 15,275
- Payable |ater than five years 10,405 11,117
47,730 33,632
(i) Lease incentives
- Current o1
- Non-current 14 295

* Assets that are the subject of operating leases include leased premises, motor vehicles, items of machinery and equipment. The
lease terms for leased premises vary between 5 and 15 years with the majority of leases providing for additional option periads.
Contingent rental provisions within the lease agreement provide for increases within the rental structure in line with the CPI and market
value. The average lease term for equipment rental is between 3 and 5 years.
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20. Auditors’ remuneration

2016 2015
$ $
During the year the auditors, and its network firms, of Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited garned
the following remuneration:
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Audit and review of financial reports of the entity or any controlled entity 348,043 471,960
Other advisory services 401,002
348,043 872,962

Total Remuneration

The Risk Management and Audit Committee (RMAC) reviews a summary of all non-audit services provided by the external auditors. The
RMAC confirms that the provision of these services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the
Corporations Act 2001 and that the nature and scope of non-audit services provided did not compromise auditor independence. This is

formally advised to the Board of Directors by the RMAC.
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21. Key management personnel compensation

The following persons were Directors of the Company during the financial year:

Directors Position

iir B Jamieson Chairman

Mr M Hooper CEOQ and Managing Director
Mr D Bayes Non-Executive Director

Mr R Gunston Non-Executive Director

Mr D Manuel Non-Executive Director

Ms L. Nicholls, AQ (resigned on 9 December 2015) Non-Executive Director
Ms K Spargo (appointed on 9 December 2015) Non-Executive Director

Key management personnel

The following persons held executive positions with responsibility and authority for the strategic direction and management of the Group
during the financial year.

Name Position
Mr G Dunne Chief Operating Officer
Mr J Sells Chief Financial Officer

Individual Directors’ and executives’ compensation disclosures

Information regarding individual Directer and executive compensation and some equity instruments disclosure as permitted by the
Corporations Regulations 2M.3.03 and 2M.6.04 is provided in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors’ Report on pages 13 to 29.

The disclosures in the Remuneration Report are audited.

The aggregate compensation made to key management personnel of the Group is set out below:

2016 2015

$ $

Short-term employee benefits 5,012,804 3,973,761
Post-employment benefits 339,915 137,423
Leng-term henefits 57,110 29,3238
Share based payments 1,542,305 1,616,571
6,952,134 5,757,093

Disclosures relating to related party transactions with Director or key management personnel are set out in Note 22.
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22. Related party disclosures

The Company

Sigma Pharmacsuticals Limited is the parent entity of the Group.
Controlled entities

Interests in controlled entities are set out in Note 28.

The Company transacted business throughout the financial period with certain controlled enities in respect of purchases of goods and
services. These transactions were undertaken on normal commercial terms and conditions,

Key management personnel

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in Note 21 and in the Remuneration Report.
Other transactions with Directors

Purchases by Directors or Director-related entities

Directors and their Director-related entities purchase goods from the Group on terms and conditions no more favourable than those
available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to other customers of the Group.

Mr D Manuel and his Director-related entities purchased pharmacy products from the Group in the ordinary course of business and on
noermal commercial terms and conditions. The amount of these purchases during the financial year ended 31 January 2016 was
$4,848,220 (2015: $4,857,124). The amounts receivable at balance date from Directors or Director-related entities included within trade
debtors in Note 9 was $577,195 (2015: $382,475). Amounts receivable from Directors or Director-related entities are subject to the Group’s
normal trading terms and conditions.

Other transactions entered into by Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited and the Group with Directors and their Director-related entities are within
normal employee, customer or supplier relationships on terms and conditions no more favourable than those available in similar arm's
length dealings.
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23. Business combinations

Subsidiaries acquired

Principal activity Date of Proportion of Total
acquisition shares consideration
acquired {%) {$°000)
Central Healthcare Pty | Central Healthcare Group is a wholesaler and | 26 May 2014 100 46,514*
Ltd, Central distributor of pharmaceutical products to
Healthcare Services hospitals and retail pharmacies and is an
Pty Ltd, PriceSave Pty | approved CSQ distributor in Victoria, NSW,
Ltd and PharmaSave ACT and Queensland. Central Healthcare
Australia Pty Ltd, also owns and manages the PharmaSave
collectively known as brand.
“Central Healthcare
Group”
Discount Drugstores Discount Drugstores Pty Ltd is a discount 25 September 100 48,653
Pty Ltd (DDS) pharmacy banner group providing buying and | 2014
retail services to members.
Member Benefits Member Benefits Australia Pty Ltd provides 1 September 51 Nil
Australia Pty Ltd products and services to their client's 2014
members on beneficial terms.
NostraData Pty Ltd(i} NostraData collects data from the market and | 12 November 51 Nil

process data into reports for users.

2015

*Determination of the total consideration of acquisition of Central Health Care Group, Discount Drugstores Pty Ltd and Member
Benefits Australia Pty Ltd has been finalised and completed during the financial year ended 31 January 2016. {Refer to Note

23(a)).

{I) On 12 November 2015, the Group’s 51% non-voting ordinary shares held in NostraData Pty Ltd were converted to voting
ordinary shares. As a result, the Group has gained control over NostraData Pty Ltd and has commenced consolidating the
results of NostraData Pty Ltd from that date. Prior to Sigma gaining control, the investment was accounted for as an equity

investment.

The interest in NostraData Pty Ltd was acquired to drive new income to support the business through the sale of dispense data.
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23. Business combinations (continued)

(a) Total consideration

2015 Note

Cash
Initial contingent consideration

Initial consideration determined at
acquisition date

2016

Earn out adjustment (i)

Total consideration determined on prior
year acquisitions

(i} Earn out adjustment

NostraData Central Discount Member Total
Pty Ltd Healthcare  Drugstores Benefits
Group Pty Ltd  Australia
Pty Ltd

$'000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000

17,927 32,055 - 49,082

23,373 14,028 - 37,401

41,300 46,083 - 87,383

5,214 2,570 7,784

46,514 48,653 - 95,167

Based on the actual performance of CHS and DDS for the 12 month period ended 30 June 2015, a final earn out of $45,185,000
was payable to CHS and DDS. The differential of $7,784,000 to the original estimated earn out payable Is included in the profit or

loss in the current period.

(b} Fair value of net assets acquired

2016 2015

NostraData Central Discount Member Total

Pty Ltd Healthcare  Drugstores Benefits

Total Group Pty Ltd Australia

Pty Ltd
Note $°000 $°000 $000 $'000 $'000
Cash and cash equivalents 2,948 1,805 6,184 72 8,061
Inventories - 15,144 3 - 15,147
Prepayments 38 143 91 234
Trade and other receivables 1,504 30,411 2,384 144 32,939
Property, plant and equipment 11 83 809 191 76 1,076
Intangibles 12 825 1,978 167 2,146
Net deferred tax assets 82 1,213 372 1,585
Trade and other payables (873) (42,098) (1,971} (98} (44,167)
Provisions (127) (2,479) (1,529) (4,008)
Borrowings {1,235) (653) (194) (847)
Net identifiable assets acquired 3.245 6,274 5,892 - 12,166

Fair values measured on a provisional basis

The following amounts have been measured on a provisional basis:
»  The assessment of the fair value of NostraData’s potential identifiable intangible assets is pending completion.

e  Fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired as noted above.

If the new information obtained within one year from the acquisition date about the facts and sircumstances that existed at the
acquisition date identifies adjustments to the above amounts, or any additional provisions that existed at the acquisition date,

then the acquisition accounting will be revised.
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23. Business combinations (continued)

{c} Goodwill arising on acquisition

2015

Total consideration

Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired
Goodwill provisionally determined at 31 January 2015

2016

Recognition of identified intangibles

Final goodwill of prior year acquisitions

Fair value of previously held equity interest

Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired

Plus: Non-controlling interests, based on their proportionate
interest in the recognised amounts of the assets and
liabilittes of NostraData Pty Ltd

Goodwill provisionally determined on current year
acquisition at 31 January 2016

Total goodwill (Note 12}

There is no gain/loss on the remeasurement of the fair value of the Group's existing 51 percent interest in NostraData Pty Ltd

NostraData Central Discount Member Total
Pty Ltd Healthcare Drugstores Benefits
Group Pty Ltd Australia
Pty Ltd
$°000 $’000 $'000 $'000 $'000
41,300 46,083 - 87,383
(6,274) (5,892) - (12,166)
35,026 40,191 - 75,217
{1,095) {1,103) - {2,198)
33,931 39,088 73,019
7,812 - - 7,812
(3.245) - (3,245)
1,590 - - 1,590
6,157 - - - 6,157
79,176

($7,812,000 less $7,812,000 carrying amount of the equity accounted investee at the date of acquisition).

{d} Acquisition-related costs

The Group incurred acguisition related costs of $21,000 (2015: $307,000) on external legal fees and due diligence costs. These

costs are recognised as “administration expenses” in profit or loss.

{e) Revenue and profit contribution

Included in the profit for the year is $6,000 profit attributable to NostraData Pty Ltd. Revenue for the year includes $1,255,000

in respect of NostraData Pty Ltd

Had the business combination been effected at 1 February 2015, the revenue of the Group far the year ended 31 January 2016

would have been $3,464,196,000 and the profit for the year would have been $50,615,000.
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23. Business combinations {continued)

2016 2015
$°000 $'000
(f) Net cash outflow arising on acquisition
Deferred consideration paid on prior year acquisitions 44,993 .
Consideration paid in cash with respect to current year acquisitions - 49,982
Less : cash and cash equivalent balances acquired {2,948) (8.061)
42,045 41,921
24. Non-controlling interest
See accounting policy in Note 2(a)
2016 2015
$°000 $°000
Balance at beginning of the year (1) -
Non-controlling interests arising on the acquisition of NostraData Pty Ltd (see note 23) 1,590 -
Share of loss for the year (87) (10
Balance at end of year 1,502 (1)
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25. Associates

2016 2015

$'000 $’000
Interests in associates - 7,934
Details of each of the Group’s material associates at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Name of associate Principal activity Place of incorporation and Proportion of ownership interest held

operation by the Group

2016 2015

NostraData Pty Ltd Collation and sale of Australia - 1%

data

The following table analyses, in aggregate, the carrying amount and share of profit or ioss and other comprehensive income of
the associates.

2016 2015
$°000 $°000
Carrying amount of interest in associates . 7,934
Share of :
- Profit/{Loss) from continuing operations for the period 210 (6)

The Group acquired 51% of the ordinary shares for $7,940,000 on the 12 November 2014, Although the Group held majority of
the shares at that date, the acquired shares were non-voting and there were restrictions in the shareholder agreement that
prevented the Group from directing the activities of the associate. The associate was accounted for using the equity method
until 12 November 2015,

On 12 November 2015, the Group's 51% non-voting ordinary shares held in NostraData Pty Ltd were converted to voting
ordinary shares. As a result, the Group gained control over NostraData Pty Ltd and the entity became a subsidiary effective 12
November 2015 (see Note 23).

The information presented in the above table includes the results of NostraData only for the period from 1 February 2015 to 12
November 2015.

At the date of discontinuing the equity method of accounting, there was no impact to profit or loss, as there was no difference
between the fair value of the Group's retained interest in NostraData Pty Ltd and the carrying amount of its investment.
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26. Guarantees

2016 2015
$'000 $'000
Guarantees existed at the end of year in respect of :
Other guarantees 4,078 2,515
Total 4,078 2,515

Deed of Cross Guarantee

Under the terms of a Deed of Cross Guarantee dated 20 January 20086, entered into accordance with the ASIC Class Order
98/1418, the Company has undertaken to meet any shortfall which might arise on the winding up of controlled entities which are
party to the Deed (See Note 33).

27. Contingent liability

{a) Shareholder class action

A contingent liability exists in respect of insurer’s right, in certain circumstances to clawback insurance proceeds received in
relation to the shareholder class action brought by Slater & Gordon on behalf of certain shareholders who purchased shares in

Sigma between 7 September 2009 and 25 February 2010,
{b) Other claims

The Group is exposed to various claims and litigations in the normal course of business. The Group assesses each claim to
determine any potential liability to the Group on a ¢ase by case basis.
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28. Details of controlled entities

Sigma Pharmaceuticals Group direct
or indirect interest in ordinary
shares/equity

Country of formation 20186 2015
or incorporation % %
Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited Australia
Controlled entities -
Chemist Club Pty Limited * Australia 100 100
Sigma Company Limited ® Australia 100 100
Allied Master Chemists of Australia Limited * Australia 100 100
Guardian Pharmacies Australia Pty Ltd ° Australia 100 100
Sigma Employee Share Administration Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Sigma NZ Limited New Zealand 100 100
Pharmacy Wholesalers (Wellington) Limited New Zealand 100 100
QDL Limited * Australia 100 100
Sigma (W.A.) Pty Ltd ® Australia 100 100
Central Healthcare Pty Ltd * Australia 100 100
Central Healthcare Services Pty Ltd® Australia 100 100
PriceSave Pty Ltd* Australia 100 100
PhamaSave Pty Ltd ® Australia 100 100
Discount Drugstores Pty Ltd * Australia 100 100
Member Benefits Australia Pty Ltd Australia 51 51
NostraData Pty Ltd Australia 51

" These wholly-owned companies are subject fo a deed of cross guarantee (See Note 33).
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29. Employee share plans and share hased payments

Employee Share Plan

The Company's Employee Share Plan periodically offers ordinary shares to all full or part time employees of the Graup. The
ordinary shares issued under the plan rank equally with all other fully paid ordinary shares on issue. Interest free loans are
offered to acquire the shares. The price at which shares are issued is determined by the weighted average price of ordinary
shares over the five trading days prior to and including the date of issue of shares.

At balance date the following shares were on issue under the Employee Share Plan:

Issue date Issue price Total shares on issue
16 June 2006 $2.48 628,500
19 January 2009 $0.97 688,900
15 January 2010 $1.00 654,000
23 May 2011 $0.38 874,791
18 June 2012 $0.60 1,022,543
01 July 2013 $0.76 2,156,000
14 July 2014 $0.75 2,239,000
10 July 2015 $0.77 3,780,000

12,041,734

The Employee Share Plan is administered by Sigma Employee Share Administration Pty Ltd, a controlled entity.

Interest free loans from Sigma Employee Share Administration Pty Ltd to employees are for a period of 10 years and are secured
by the shares issued. The loans are repayable from dividends received on the shares and from voluntary loan repayments. If an
employee leaves employment within the Group, he or she can repay the loan in full and acquire unrestricted ownership of the
shares. If the employee does not wish to acquire the shares and repay the loan, the shares are transferred to Sigma Employee
Share Administration Pty Ltd for later sale on market to repay the remaining balance of the loan.

Share based payments

{a) Executive Short Term Incentive Performance Plan

The short term incentive (STI) plan for executives of the Group is designed to drive key performance measures aligned to
strategy and financial objectives. Pre-defined key performance measures are established each year to ensure the targets
are relevant and challenging. Commencing the financial year ending 31 January 2015, the structure of the executive STI
plan has changed from a combination of cash payment and deferred equity reward to 100% cash payment. (Details of the
STI plan are set out on pages 18-19 of the Remuneration Report).

The first issue of options under the ST! plan was granted on 1 February 2012. The exercise price of options is based on
the weighted average price at which the company shares are traded on the Australian Securities Exchange over the last
five trading days prior to and including the date of the grant.

Set out below are summaries of options granted under the STl plan:

Vested and
Balance Granted Exercised Forfeited Balance at exercisable
Grant Expiry Exercise at start of during during during end of the at end of
Date Date Price the year the year the year the year year the year
Number Number Number Number Number Number
2016

01/03/13 31/01/15 $0.6742 396,382 396,382 -

01/02/14 31/01/15 $0.5950 36,177 36,177
01/02/14 31/01/16 $0.5950 36,176 - 36,176 36,176
01/02/15 31/01116 $0.7951 365,019 - - - 365,019 365,019
01/02/15 31/01117 $0.7951 365,019 - - - 365,019 -
Total 1,198,773 - 432,559 - 766,214 401,195
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29. Employee share plans and share based payments (continued)

Vested and
Balance Granted Exercised Forfeited Balance at exercisable
Grant Expiry Exercise at start of during during during end of the at end of
Date Date Price the year the year the year the year year the year
Number Number Number Number Number Number
2015
01/02M12 31/01/14 $0.6003 611,210 - 611,210 - -
01/03/13 31/01/14 $0.6742 396,383 396,383 -
01/03/13 31/01/15 $0.6742 396,382 - . 396,382 396,382
01/02/14 31/01/15 $0.5950 36,177 - 36,177 36,177
01/0214 31/01/16 $0.5950 36,176 - 36,176
01/02115 31/0116 $0.7951 365,019 365,019
01/02/15 3101117 $0.7951 365,019 365,019
Total 1,476,328 730,038 1,007,593 - 1,198,773 432,559

(b) Executive Loan funded Share Plan

Commencing the financial year ending 31 January 2012 the Company implemented a lean funded share plan for
executives and senior employees. Participants are provided an interest free ilimited recourse loan to purchase shares in

the Company if pre-defined vesting conditions are met three years from grant date. (Details of the LTI plan are set out on
pages 18-20 of the Remuneraticn Report).

The first parcel of [can funded shares was granted to the participants on 28 June 2011. The exercise price is based on

the weighted average price of shares in the Company over the last five trading days prior to and including the date of the

grant.

Set out below are summaries of shares granted under the Plan:

Vested and

Balance at Granted Exercised Forfeited Balanceat exercisable

Grant Expiry Exercise start of the during the during the during the end of the at end of

Date Date Price year year year year year the year

Number Number Number Number Number Number

2016

28/06/11  20/06/16 $0.505 7,978,444 - 1,056,320 - 6,922,124
01/02M12 310117 $0.575 5,132,331 - 3,270,951 - 1,861,380
01/02112  31/01/117 $0.540 3,784,034 - - - 3,784,034

01/02/13  31/01/18 $0.670 16,656,570 . 520,111 16,136,459 -
01/0214  31/01/19 $0.595 17,115,552 1,658,752 15,456,800

01/02/115  31/01/20 $0.800 17,380,394 - 1,057,236 16,323,158 -
01/06/15  30/06/20 $0.840 2,812,196 - 2,812,196

Total 50,666,931 20,192,580 4,327,271 3,236,009 63,296,151 -

2015

28/06/11  20/06/16 $0.505 10,510,733 2,532,289 7,978,444

04/07M1  04/07/16 $0.540 1,639,925 1,639,925 - -
01/02112  31/01/17 $0.575 5,132,331 - - 5,132,331
01/02/12 310117 $0.540 3,784,034 3,784,034
01/02113  31/01/18 $0.670 16,656,570 - 16,656,570
01/02114  31/01/19 $0.595 - 17,115,552 17,115,552
Total 37,723,593 17,115,552 4,172,214 - 50,666,931
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29. Employee share plans and share based payments {continued)

(c) Other equity plan
Sign on performance rights granted to General Manager, Sales

Upon commencement, the General Manager Sales was awarded an equity sign on bonus in the form of performance
rights. Provided the executive remains employed by the Company, 100% of the performance rights vest on 4 May 2017.

Vested and
Balance at Granted Exercised Forfeited Balance at  exercisable
Grant Expiry Exercise start of the during the during the during the and of the at end of
Date Date Price year year year year year the year
Number Number Number Number Number Number

2016
04/05/15  04/05M17 $0.850 - 294,118 . - 294,118 -

(d) Fair value of options granted

The fair value of options and shares at grant date is independently determined using an option pricing mode! developed by
the external consultant engaged by the Company. The model reference for computing the fair value under STI plan and
Loan funded shares with ROIC vesting condition Is Black—Scholes pricing model and loan funded shares with the TSR
vesting condition is calculated using Eurcpean barrier call pricing model.

The fair value produced by the model and the inputs into the model for the various share options granted during the year
.and unexercised are set out below:

STIPlan STI Plan Loan Loan l.oan Loan Sign-on
Tranche 1 | Tranche 2 funded funded funded funded | incentive
shares shares shares shares plan
Granted Granted Granted Granted | Granted | Granted | Granted
1 February | 1 February | 1 February | 1 February 1June 1 June 4 May
2015 2015 2015 2015 2015 2015 2015

ROIC TSR ROIC TSR

Qption Option Option Option
Fair value $0.7620 $0.7257 $0.1769 $0.1173 | $0.1977 | $0.1382 | $0.7800

Inputs into the model:

Grant date share price $0.8000 $0.8000 $0.8000 $0.8000 | $0.8400 | $0.8400 | $0.8700
Exercise price - - $0.8000 $0.8000 | $0.8400 | $0.8400 -
Expected volatility - - 30% 30% 33% 33% -
Vesting life 1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years 3 vears 3 years 2 years
Option life 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 2 years
Expected dividend yield 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.6% 5.6% 5.7%
Risk free interest rate - - 1.95% 1.95% 1.94% 1.94% -
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29. Employee share plans and share based payments (continued)

(e} Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions attributable to employees recognised during the period as

part of total share-based payment expense were as follows:

2016 2015
$°000 $°000
Options issued under executive STI plan 235 319
Shares issued under loan funded share plan 1,892 1,972
Options issued under sign on performance rights 86 .
Total 2,313 2,23
30. Credit facilities

2016 2015
$’000 $'000

Credit standby arrangements
Secured bank overdraft facllities 155,000 80,000
Amount of credit unused 81,986 80,000
Corporate credit card 3,124 3,124
Amount of credit unused 3,025 3.001
Waestpac debtors securitisation facility available 95,000 95,000
Westpac debtors securitisation facility unused 95,000 95,000
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31. Notes to the statement of cash flows

2016 2015
$'000 $'000
(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash at the end of the financial perfod as shown in the Statement of cash flow is
reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Cash and bank balances 17,407 34,284
Bank overdraft {(73,014) -
Cash and cash equivalents {55,607) 34,284
(b) Reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 50,415 52,772
Depreciation expense 5475 5,301
Amortisation expense 4,492 2,257
Change in fair value of derivatives - 18
Share based payments expense 2,313 2,291
Loss{{profit} on sale of property, plant and equipment 7 (160)
Share of profit of equity accounted investee, net of tax (210} -
Change in assets and liabilities:
Change in inventories (37,242) (13,846)
Change in net taxes receivable {2,082) 18,560
Change in prepayments {803) (426)
Change in trade and other receivables {32,305) {23,224)
Change in trade creditors 32,647 4,895
Change in provisions 1,060 1,129
Change in other creditors and deferred income 8,384 11,747
Net cash flows from operating activities 32151 61,314

Fair Value

The fair value of bank overdraft equals their carrying amount as the debt is subject to floating interest rates. The carrying amounts
of the Group's borrowings are denominated in Australian dollars. For an analysis of the sensitivity of borrowings to interest rate
risk and foreign exchange risk refer to Note 34.
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32. Parent company financial information

(a) Summary financial information
The individual financial statements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts:

Note 2016 2015
$°000 $'000
Statement of Financial Position
Current assets 51,578 21,779
Total assets 415,149 385,384
Current liabilities 100,776 56,076
Total liabilities 100,852 56,116
Net assets 314,297 329,268
Equity
Issued capital 17(a) 299,513 310,655
Reserves 1,912 9,780
Accumulated profit 12,872 8,833
Total equity 314,297 329,268
Profit for the year 48,239 16,531
Total comprehensive income for the year 48,289 16,531

(b) Guarantees entered into by parent entity
The parent entity has provided financial guarantees in respect of the subsidiary’s Westpac debtor securitisation facility. As at 31

January 2016, the balance of the facility is $73,014,000 (2015: nil). The facility is also secured by way of deed over certain
account receivables under the Westpac debtor securitisation facility.

In addition, there are cross guarantees given by the Company as described in Note 33. No deficiencies of assets exist in any of
these entities. No liabiiity was recognised by the parent entity or the consolidated entity in relation to these cross guarantees,
as the fair value of the guarantees is immaterial.

(c) Contingent liabilities of the parent entity

Refer to Note 27 for comment on contingent liability. The parent entity did not have any other contingent liabilities as at 31
January 2016. For information about guarantees given by the parent entity, see above.

{d) Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant or equipment

The parent entity did not have any contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment as at 31
January 2016 or 31 January 2015.

{e) Parent Company Investment in Subsidiary Companies
The carrying value of the parent's investment in subsidiaries as at 31 January 2016 was $363,511,000 (2015: $363,511,000).
(F) Receivables from Controlled Entities

The parent entity did not have any impairment in respect of any intercompany loan receivable during the 2016 financial year
(2015: nil). The parent loan receivable is not overdue and eliminates on consolidation.
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33. Deed of cross guarantee

Pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 (as amended by Class Orders 98/2017 and 00/0321) the wholly-owned Australian
controlled entities listed in Note 28 footnote (a) are refieved from the Corporations Act requirements for the preparation, audit and
lodgement of financial reports. These entities which are also referred to in the Diractors’ Declaration are, together with the
Company, all members of the ‘Extended Closed Group' as defined under the Class Order and are parties to a Deed of Cross
Guarantee dated 20 January 2006 which provides that the parties to the Deed will guarantee to each creditor payment in full of
any debt of these entities on winding up of that entity.

A Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position cornprising the
Company and those Australian controlled entities which are a party to the Deed, after eliminating all transactions between parties
to the Deed of Cross Guarantee at 31 January 2016 are set out below:

2016 2015

$'000 $°000
Sales revenue 3,461,104 3,142,126
Cost of goods sold (3.200,641) (2,907,282)
Gross profit 260,463 234,844
Other revenue and income 71,001 51,761
Warehousing and delivery expenses {122,948) (111,734)
Sales and marketing expenses (59,598) (45,813}
Administration expenses (51,573) (43,928)
Loss on recognition of contingent consideration from prior year acquisitions {7.784)
Depreciation and amortisation (8,771} (7,366}
Amortisation of ather intangibles acquired in acquisition {940)
Profit before financing costs 79,940 77,764
Financial income 1,968 1515
Financial expense {5,391} (3,972)
Net financing expense (3,423) (2,457)
Share of profit/(loss) of equity accounted investee, net of tax 210 (6)
Profit before income tax 76,727 75,301
Income tax expense (26,123) (22,753)
Profit for the year 50,604 52,548
Other comprehensive income
ftems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Net change in fair value of financial asset 150
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (41) 83
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income {33) (25}
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 76 58
Total comprehensive income for the year 50,680 52,606
Summary of movements in consolidated accumulated losses
Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial period {698,302) (728,349)
Profit for the year 50,604 52,548
Reclassification of settled and expired share based transactions 9,658 -
Dividends {54,421) (22,501)
Accumulated losses at the end of the financial period {692,461) (698,302)
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33. Deed of cross guarantee (continued)

2016 2015
$°000 $°000
Statement of financial position
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 12,905 33,378
Trade and other receivables 616,841 589,829
Inventories 288,626 251,385
Prepayments 5,049 4,246
Total current assets 923,421 878,838
Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables 9,185 4,738
Property, plant and equipment 58,340 57,651
Goodwill and other intangible assets 100,529 96,230
Other financial assets 650 -
Investments accounted for using the equity method - 7,934
Net deferred tax assets 9,773 7,708
“Total non-current assets 178,477 174,261
Total assets 1,101,898 1,053,099
Current liabilities
Bank overdraft 73,014 -
Trade and other payables 424,225 427,714
Borrowings - 29
Income tax payable 12,721 12,705
Provisions 14,248 13,592
Deferred income 2,744 1,104
Total current liahilities 526,952 455,406
Non-current liabilities
Other payables 295 -
Borrowings - 179
Provisions 3,089 3,560
Deferred income 609 443
Total non-current liabilities 4,893 4182
Total liabilities 531,845 450,588
Net assets 570,053 593,511
Equity
Contributed equity 1,252,092 1,271,682
Reserves 10,422 20,131
Accumulated losses (692,461) (698,302)
Total equity 570,053 593,511
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34. Financial instruments

Financial risk management

Financial risk management is camried out by a central treasury department (Group Treasury) under policies approved by the Board
of Directors. Group Treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating
units. The Board provides written principles for averall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as
foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk {(including foreign currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk.

Interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk exposures are managed by quantifying the impact of adverse interest and foreign
exchange rate movements on the overall profitability of the Group and entering into hedging contracts seeking to protect a
predetermined level of forecast profitability that may otherwise be impacted by unfavourable market rate movements.

The Group’'s Treasury function acts under the authorisation granted in the Policy and compliance is monitored by the Risk
Management and Audit Committee within parameters set by the Board, via monthly reporting to the Board.

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

2016 2015
$'000 $'000
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 17,407 34,284
Trade and other receivables 627,433 594,695
Other financial assets 650 -
645,490 628,979
Financial liabilities
Bank overdraft 73,014 -
Trade and other payables 446,407 450,633
Borrowings 1,039 630
520,460 451,263

(a} Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates mainly within Australia and maintains a subsidiary operation within New Zealand. The Group trades
predominantly with entities in Australian dollars, accordingly exposure of the Group to foreign exchange risks arising from
currency movements is immaterial.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future anticipated commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities that are
denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and cash flow
forecasting.

Only a minor portion of the Group's supply contracts are sourced from cverseas entities and payable in the corresponding local
currency. The major currencies were principally United States dollars, Euros and New Zealand dollars. The Group did not enter
into forward exchange contracts during the year ended 31 January 2016 to purchase any foreign currency.

(i} Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the Group's cash flow exposures to changes in interest rates on the Group's interest bearing liabilities.
As interest rates fluctuate, the amount of interest payable on financing where the interest rate is not fixed will also fluctuate.
Consistent with the Policy, the Group may seek to mitigate its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates by entering into interest
rate hedging contracts for a portion of forecast interest rate exposures.

The Group's main interest rate risk arises from borrowings under the Receivables Purchase Agreement with Westpac Limited
{refer Note 15},

The Group did not enter into any interest rate hedge contracts during the year ended 31 January 2016 (2015:nil).
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34. Financial instruments {continued)

(i) Summarised Sensitivity Analysis
The following table summarises the sensitivity of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities to interest rate risk {against
the implied 30 day bank bill rate). The table also represents the quantitative impact on the financial statements should the

variation occur.

h 31 January 2616 N 31 January 2015

Carrying Weighted -1% +1% Carrying Weighted -1% +1%:

Amount average Profit Profit Amount average Profit Profit
Interest rate risk $'000 interest rate $'000 $'000 $°000 interest rate $'000 $’000!

% % :

Financial assets ' ' R
Cash and cash equivalents 17,407 0.9% (174) 174 34,284 2.0% (343) 343
Financial liabilities
Borrowings-secured (74) 4.5% 1 n (63} 4.9% 1 (1)
Borrowings-unsecured {965) - - - (567) 6.0% 5 (5}
Bank overdraft {73,014) 3.6% 730 (730} - - - -
Total {decrease)/increase 557 {5657) (337) 337

{b) Credit risk
Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and
deposits with banks and finangial institutions, as well as credit exposures to wholesale and retail customers, including outstanding

receivables and committed transactions.

Only reputable banks and financial institutions are accepted. The Group cash at bank is with the Westpac Banking Corporation
which has a AAA rating.

The principal activity of the Group gives rise to a significant receivables value within the financial assets of the Group. The credit
risk on financial assets of the Group which have been recognised on balance sheet is generally the carrying amount, net of any
provisions for doubtful debts. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the higher of the carrying value and fair
value of the receivables.

Credit assessments are undertaken to determine the credit quality of the customer, taking into account their financial position,
past experience and other relevant factors. Individual risk limits are granted in accordance with the internal Credit Policy and
authorised via appropriate personnel as defined by the Group's Delegation of Authority manual. The utilisation of credit limits by
customers is regularly monitored by operational management. The Group generally retains title over the goods sold until full
payment is received and registers its' title on the Personal Properties Securities Register, thus limiting the loss from a possible
default to the profit margin made on the sale.

Credit risk further arises in relation to financial guarantees {refer to Note 28) given to certain parties. Such guarantees are only
provided in exceptional circumstances and are approved by senior management.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, marketable securities and access to cash via committed credit
lines in order to meet commitments as and when they fall due. Group Treasury manages the surety and flexibility in funding by
ensuring committed credit lines are available and managing cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows.

The weighted average term to maturity of committed bank facilities and rolling cash flow forecasts are periodically provided to
management and the Board.

The Receivables Purchase Agreement debt with Westpac Limited has been classified as current as the loan has a maturity
profile that varies between 30 and 90 days.
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34, Financial instruments (continued)

(d) Other price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risks arising from equity instruments. Equity instruments are held for strategic rather than
trading purposes. The Group does not actively trade these investments.

Equity price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the end of the reporting pericd.
If equity prices had been 5% higher/lower:

s Profit for the year ended 31 January 2016 would have been unaffected as the equity investments are classified as available
for sale; and

»  Other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 January 2016 would increase/decrease by $23,000 as a result of the
changes in fair value of available for sale shares.

(e} Fair value measurement

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement for disclosure

purposes. As per AASB 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the

following fair value measurement hierarchy:

{(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1),

{b) inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly {(as prices)
or indirectly {derived from prices) (level 2), and

{c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data {unobservable inputs) (level 3).

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair values of various financlal assets and financial labilities.

Financial assets Fair value Fair value hierarchy Valuation
31 January 2016 31 January 2015 technique(s) and key
inputs
Other financial assets Listed equity shares - - Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an
$650,000 active market.

35. Events subsequent to reporting date

(a} Dividends

Since the end of the financial year, the Board of Directors have resolved to pay a final dividend of 3.0 cents per share fully
franked, to be paid on 21 April 2016 to shareholders on the register at the ex-dividend date of 6 April 2016, The total amount
payable is $32,383,000.

(b) Renewal of a major customer contract

On 17 February 20186, the Group announced the finalisation of a long term supply contract with one of it major custemers. The
new agreement is in place until December 2018 and provides an option to exclusively negotiate an additional 3 year extension.
The agreement also delivers further reduction in payment terms.

{c} Westpac receivables purchase agreement

The existing debtor securitisation facility of $250,000,000 was due to expire on 5 February 2016. On 22 February 2016, the
Company has extended the facility to 6 February 2017. The debtor securitisation facility is $250,000,000 and is subject to the
same terms and conditions.

Other than the matters discussed above, there has not been any other matter or circumstance that has arisen since 31 January
2016 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the
state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years not otherwise disclosed.
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Directors’ Declaration

In the opinion of the Directors of Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited:

{a) the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 31 to 86, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

(iy  giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 31 January 2016 and of its
performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

(i)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards, the Corporate Regulations 2001, and other mandatory
professional reporting requirements; and

{b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due
and payable.

There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the controlled entities identified in Note 28 will be able to meet
any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject to by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee between the
Company and those controlled entities pursuant to ASIC class QOrder 98/1418.

Note 1{b} confirms that the financial statements also comply with international Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board.

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year
ended 31 January 2016 pursuant to Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Mr Mark Hooper
CEO & Managing Director

e

Melbourne
22 March 2016

Page 87



- Delcitte Touche Tohmatsu
e OI e!\ ABN 74 490 121 060

550 Bourke Street

Melbourne VIC 3000

GPO Box 78

Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia

DX: 111

Tel: +613 96717000
Fax: +61 3 96717001
www.deloitte.com.au

Independent Auditor’s Report
to the members of Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited

Report on the Financial Report

We have audited the accompanying tinancial report of Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited, which
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 January 2016, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of cash flows
and the statement of changes in equity for the year ended on that date, notes comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of the
consolidated entity, comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from
time to time during the financial year as set out on pages 31 to 87.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error. In Note 1(b), the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB
101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the consolidated financial statements comply with
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the aunditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the anditor considers internal control, relevant to the company’s
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view, in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion,

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation,
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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Deloitte

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001,
which has been given to the directors of Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited, would be in the same terms
if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.

Opinion
In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 January 2016
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii)) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) the consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards as disclosed in Note 1(b).

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 15 to 29 of the directors’ report for the
year ended 31 January 2016. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and
presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act
200!. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Opinion

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited for the year ended 31
January 2016, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

@/M% Giee

DELOITT CHE T ATSU

om Imbesi
Partner
Chartered Accountants
Melbourne, 22 March 2016
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